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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited consolidated
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Our Group's turnover decreased from approximately HK$629.4
million in 2023 to approximately HK$579.5 million in 2024,
representing a decrease of approximately 7.9%. Gross profit
was approximately HK$146.2 million in 2024, representing a
decrease of approximately 12.5% from that of 2023. Profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
approximately HK$60.3 million in 2024, representing a decrease
of approximately 19.7% from that of 2023. The decrease in
net profit was primarily due to the decrease in sales orders and
increment in production cost.

The Group has been engaged in the printed circuit board
industry since 1989. Starting as an ordinary and unremarkable
small company, the Group spared no effort to keep pace with
the times and finally became successfully listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2014. So, 2024 is
a significant year for the Group: a year which marks the 35th
anniversary of its founding and the 10th anniversary of its listing.

Over the past 35 years, the Group has been focusing on the
production and sales of printed circuit boards.

Printed circuit board (the “PCB”) is a technology that secures
electronic components and leads to an insulated substrate. They
play an important role in carrying and connecting electronic
components in electronic products. Therefore, many people
describe PCB as the “the mother of electronic products”. It is
widely used in the fields of communication electronics, consumer
electronics, computers, automotive electronics, industrial
controller, medical devices, national defense and aerospace, etc. It
is everywhere around modern electronic world. Due to the wide
market of downstream consumers of PCB products, this industry
is less affected as compared to other industries with a single
downstream industry, and the total output value of the global
PCB industry is mainly closely related to the macroeconomic
conditions.

The PCB industry’s business environment is affected by a number
of factors, including technological innovation, international trade
policy, industry competition and environmental regulations.
In recent years, with the rapid development of the Internet of
Things, smart phones and electric vehicles, the PCB industry is
facing more opportunities and challenges.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Technological innovation drives the development of the PCB
industry, and the application of new technologies continues to
expand the scope of the product’s applications. Meanwhile, the
changes in international trade policy and global economic trends
have also affected the industry. Competition in the industry,
particularly from Asian regions, is intense and is putting pressure
on some traditional manufacturers.

In addition, environmental regulations have imposed higher
requirements on product materials and manufacturing processes,
which have changed the operation environment of the industry
to a certain extent.

PCB enterprises in the PRC face a variety of difficulties such
as fluctuations in the global supply chain, international trade
frictions, protectionism, environmental regulations and
pressure for technological innovation. These enterprises may
need to address challenges from various aspects, including
improving production efficiency, providing higher quality
products, developing innovative technologies and maintaining
competitiveness with the international market.

However, the PRC’s PCB manufacturers also have a number of
advantages. First of all, the PRC’'s PCB manufacturers not only
hold a significant share in the domestic market but also actively
expand into international markets, establishing cooperative
relationships with multiple countries and regions. In addition,
the PRC government provides substantial support and policy
incentives to high-tech industries, which aids the growth and
expansion of the PCB manufacturers. Secondly, in the PRC,
the PCB manufacturers benefit from lower production costs,
including relatively low expenses for labor, raw materials and
manufacturing equipment, resulting in enhancement in efficiency
and effectiveness, which enable the PRC’'s PCB manufacturers
to offer more competitive prices. Moreover, for the PRC’'s PCB
manufacturers, there have been significant advancements in their
technologies and they introduce and develop their production
technologies from time to time, to improve product quality and
production efficiency. Lastly, the PRC’s PCB market is huge, with
numerous manufacturers and suppliers, which fosters intense
market competition and drives enterprises to continuously
enhance their competitiveness.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

The PCB industry is a substantially stable business segment
which is only slightly affected by the negative factors of the
overall situation. The range of application of PCBs is extensive,
including but not limited to 4C products, Internet-of-Things,
autonomous cars, big data as well as automobile electronics and
electrification. The development of each mode of application will
drive the demand for PCBs.

The amount of corresponding equipment and devices associated
with the rapid development of 5G is enormous, thus creating
tremendous business opportunities. Automobile electronics and
electrification involves utilization of a considerable amount of
circuit boards. The utilization of circuit boards in new energy
vehicles exceeds that of conventional vehicles by several times.
The demand for 4C products remains steady. These factors are
favorable to the future development of the electronic circuit
industry.

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere gratitude to all fellow Directors, management and
our staff for their unwavering dedication and contribution to
our Group's development. | would also like to thank all of our
shareholders, for their trust and continuous support over a
challenging but rewarding 2024.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
Chan Yung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Financial Highlights

MBREE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1T—-HLEE

2024 2023 Change
—E-WEF —E-=F #3)
Results HK$'000 HK$'000 (%)
E4 FET FHET
Revenue g 579,537 629,430 (7.9)
Profit before tax B 758 A1 a5 ) 70,854 89,288 (20.6)
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ARAFEBEDTIZAA
holders of the Company FE(E & F 60,310 75,083 (19.7)
Basic earnings per share BREARZEF RN HK31.3 cents
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AEFREMSIR) b eIl (19.8)
Diluted earnings per share FIEERA L@l HK31.3 cents
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AERBMFIR) A eI (19.8)
Dividend per share R E ELCORENCN  HK10.0 cents
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AFRRBALZ ) 4l AL (40.0)
As at 31 December
R+=-—HA=+-—H
2024 2023 Change
—E_MF ZE=F #E)
Financial Position HK$'000 HK$'000 (%)
B AR R FET FHET
Total assets BEMAE 1,123,769 1,068,718 5.2
Net debts (excluding cash and bank FER(TEERE R
balances and pledged deposits) RITEE AR B R
F2) (497,932) (461,565) 7.9
Shareholders’ equity B R R 745,229 720,648 3.4
Net assets per share BREETE
(expressed in HK$ per share) (AEFMKETTIIR) 3.11 3.00 3.7
Net debts to total assets FERHEERE (44.3)% (43.2)% 2.5
Net debts to shareholders’ equity SRESE IR RS (66.8)% (64.0)% 4.4
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Financial Summary

M=

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLHEE

in HK$'000 2023 2022 2021 2020
FAETT —To=F —T-—F —T—— —E-TF
RESULTS ES
Revenue 25 579,537 629,430 743,612 763,836 587,133
Profit before tax B 5 AT St 70,854 89,288 110,908 65,217 50,547
Income tax expense FifSfimx (10,544) (14,205) (16,644) (18,973) (11,845)
Profit for the year F N 60,310 75,083 94,264 46,244 38,702
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—8
in HK$'000 2023 2022 2021 2020
FAET —To=F —T-_—F —T—— —E-TF
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAfE
Total assets BERE bkl 1,068,718 1,058,381 1,077,387 973,162
Total liabilities BE4REE 378,540 348,070 374,983 424,486 366,291
Net assets BEFE 745,229 720,648 683,398 652,901 606,871

BEREEZERERAR / £ 2024 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The printed circuit board, also known as “PCB”, is mainly
comprised of insulation base materials and conductors. PCBs,
which support and connect electronic devices as they provide
connection between electric components, are components
required to combine a majority of electronic devices with
electronics, machinery, and chemical materials. They are also
given the name of “the mother of electronic products”.

In 2024, the global economy continued to exhibit signs of
insufficient momentum amid a slow recovery, characterized
meanwhile by imbalanced growth and increasing fragmentation.
Escalating geopolitical tensions, the spread of unilateralism and
protectionism had cast a shadow over global growth prospects.
According to the estimates by the International Monetary Fund,
the global economic growth rate in 2024 is expected to be
approximately 3.2%, lower than the 3.3% in 2023 and also
below the pre-pandemic average in previous years.

Despite the threat of adverse factors such as geopolitics,
protectionism and de-inventory, the global PCB output value
was approximately US$80.3 billion in 2024, which is projected
to reach US$96.6 billion in 2029, with a compound annual
growth rate of 4.87% during the forecast period (2024-2029).
In the long run, the PCB industry remains a critical link in the
entire electronics industry chain. The booming development of
5G-related equipment, Al servers, new energy vehicles and other
markets will drive the demand for PCB.

The PCB industry has been long established, with its early
presence mainly concentrated in Europe, North America, and
Japan. Due to the global migration of the electronics sector, Asia
takes the lead in the PCB industry development on the globe.
According to the information available, it was forecasted that
the PRC’s PCB output value would reach RMB412.1 billion in
2024 and was expected to achieve RMB433.3 billion in 2025,
accounting for over 50% of the global market.

PCB is a necessary component of electronic products. With
continuous technological advancements, the demand for PCBs
is steady and is expected to grow continuously. The range
of application of PCBs is extensive, including communication
electronics, consumer electronics, computers, automotive
electronics, industrial controller, medical devices, national
defense and aerospace and other fields. In recent years, driven
by the demands of emerging sectors such as 5G technology,
new energy vehicles, Internet-of-Things, big data, cloud
computing, energy conservation and environmental protection,
and information security, good business opportunities will be
maintained in the PCB market.

ITERE

EN R B BE AR - XMTKM FERBGEMEEER

M FHAERK ° PCB 2 TR FEEAREE  EE
R E E@mwm REATT - W

EIMBSBAZHETREERMLTHITH - XK

BEIETERZE]-

—ToE HRAKEEREEFRTERI TR
BRKE  BREMBINEE - WEERAR - £i8
I%%M%‘%I%ELJ—L aPEE REHRIERATRR L

¥ BEREEESHEBAH T o_OFE2RKE
iE%’é%’B.Z% BER=ZF-=FmM33%  BEREK
BREAMZFFIGKF

EHGEBUR  REXE  ZEGFETFAEZHET -
—E - FEIRPCBEBEAHSBEET 3 =%
R FED66EETT - T8 B A (2024-2029 4 )
EAFEREXRE48T% - REME ' PCBITEEAR
m%%ﬁﬁﬁ$%ime—% 5GHERIRRE AR
R HEERABESEMSEDERE  BEHPCBNE
jzo

PCBITEZERMKA  BEFETEHMEBN - X - B
AE HEERKETFEEEY  DMNETZE2IPGBE
E¥BE -RBEUSEHNER BT _NFEFH
PCBEMBEEINARE4 12118 BEE-_T _RAFE
BIAR¥ 43331870 (G2 BT HBIB5K ©

PCBYEREFEMT TR SHERMITI - BEE RIKF
R NETfRT - EFEKBEASIHELE R HEAES

ZE @mT‘ﬂ%% HBET - 318# . REE
T TEEH B2 - B RMLEMR S B
TR %%%ﬂ& LR RE - B - KB

B EFE - SRR EREREEMEARTRD

WE) - PCB TSRS NSRRI o

10 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



=g

Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

New energy vehicles and automobile electronics drive the growth
of PCB demand. Automobile electronics has become a global
trend, which promotes the rapid growth of automobile PCBs.
PCBs are widely used in engine, control, safety, information and
in-vehicle systems. Compared with conventional vehicles, the
requirement of electronics for new energy vehicle is higher. The
Internet of Things of electric smart vehicles is bound to drive
the growth of the entire industry chain. Benefitting from the
drive toward automotive intellectualization, the development
of smart vehicle electrification and the development of three
core systems (batteries, motors and electric) of new energy
vehicles resulted in the considerable increase in the PCB value
and volume of each vehicle. In view of the immense effort in
promoting the development of new energy vehicle by countries
around the world, resulting in an increase in the penetration rate
of new energy vehicles and the growth of automotive electronics
market, it shall create tremendous business opportunities to the
PCB market in the future.

The new applications of PCBs will further drive the development
of the PCB industry. The 5G technology deployment will
significantly advance the progress of the PCB industry. With the
construction and promotion of 5G networks, the demand for
PCBs for communication facilities such as base stations, routers,
switches, and backbone transmission equipment will increase
significantly. According to the estimation of China Academy
of Information and Communications Technology (CAICT), the
direct output of 5G in 2030 will be RMB6.3 trillion, which
will undoubtedly bring huge market space and development
opportunities for China’s PCB industry.

Although the PCB market has an encouraging prospect, it
also faces numerous difficulties. As the PRC government
has strengthened its efforts on environmental protection,
manufacturing enterprises that fail to meet the requirements will
be subject to rectification, or even replacement or suspension. As
a result, compliant PCB manufacturers are required to increase
investments in environmental engineering and wastewater
treatment capacities, which undoubtedly adds weight on their
operating costs.

Against the large-scale capacity expansion launched by many
PCB manufacturers with excess capacity amid a growing number
of new PCB manufacturers in recent years, the market has
eventually become increasingly competitive, with the severe
involution of PCB price in 2024, and the already slim profit
margins are expected to further shrink.
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HERAENZERE  REEFHMHEAE AR
RIRPCB T35 7 SRE R

PCB¥TIEFA B e BIPCBITE R  SGRIFEEB KR
AHEBPCBEXAIE - BEESGHEMBHERIERE - 8
EEYE - BB XK SHRNPEHREZTRAR
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SHRENE -
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Haas. TUREEE A —

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

The labor costs in China have been on the rise over the
past decade, as corporate expenditure rises due to full
implementation of policies on social security and public housing
fund. A phenomenon of “recruitment difficulty, labor shortage”
often appears in the developed coastal areas, in which case,
recruitment of frontline employees, particularly seasoned
technicians, becomes increasingly difficult. As a result, many
domestic PCB enterprises gradually relocate their production
bases to inland provinces and cities, or undergo comprehensive
reform to accelerate the process of production automation and
intellectualization to reduce the dependence on manpower and
ensure the stability of quality.

In response to clients’ requests for risk diversification and
expansion into new markets, a trend of southbound investments
appeared, with Thailand, Vietnam and Malaysia as the main
choices. With the launch of various investment schemes,
Thailand has become an emerging hub for the PCB industry,
a development that is now firmly established. Due to the
incomplete PCB supply chain in Southeast Asia, there has been
a shortage of talent prior to the commencement of formal
production. As compared to the comprehensive production
support in the Mainland China, it is estimated that there will
not be a significant decline in the PRC’'s PCB industry in a short
period of time.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is an original equipment manufacturer (“OEM")
provider of PCBs and focuses on the production of quality PCBs,
which meet industrial standards such as IPC Standards, as well as
customers’ requirements.

We focus on the conventional PCBs with a well-developed
capacity to produce multi-layered and special material PCBs with
primary applications in automobiles, communication equipment,
medical devices, industrial automation equipment and consumer
electronics.

Our continuous diversification of product mix and market
coverage allowed the Group to swiftly cater for the changes
in demand from certain sectors and adjust our production
output accordingly, resulting in reduced reliance on a single
product and market. Benefiting from the enormous business
opportunities generated from automobile electronics in recent
years, the proportion of our revenue generated from this sector
is correspondingly higher.

FEBENAEK AT BETFETE LA - 2EEMET
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ARERKREAZERAMR - HEPEANMETEEE
BRE Bt PBEPCBEXRERERATE AR TFE - A
£ At EPCB EXERH AN & AR T -

EXOERER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

Over the past 35 years of our operation, the Group has
established a solid foundation and close relationship with our
customers. The Group provided direct and indirect services to
OEM customers across Asia, Europe, Africa, North America,
South America and Oceania, who are engaged in various
industries with many of them running in a multinational model.
Certain of our major OEM customers are leading players in their
markets. The Group supplied PCB products directly to a number
of leading electronic manufacturing service providers, in order
to assemble finished goods of OEM for the Group’s indirect
OEM customers. To date, the Group has built up long-term
relationship with major customers, and some of them have been
working with us for over a decade. The Company believed that
these customers also considered the Group as their important
partner for their supply chain. Therefore, our profound and long-
term relationship with customers will enable the Group to know
the trend of customers’ demand more quickly.

The Group is of the view that product and process quality
are integral to its business. The Group complies with various
international quality standards and systems, including 1SO9001,
ISO14001 and IATF16949 certifications. The Group has put in
place a number of quality measures and simplification plan to
promote a culture of quality product. Quality is of paramount
importance to the business of the Group and is regularly
reviewed and improved by dedicated personnel to enhance
customer satisfaction. In addition, the Group obtained AS9100
certification in 2009 to qualify for the provision of advanced
and reliable PCBs for the aerospace industry. This is a testament
to our product quality. From 2022, the Group complies with
ISO 13485 certification, proving that the Group’s quality
management system complies with the production and sales
requirement of circuit boards for medical equipment.

Apart from focusing on product quality, the Company also
focuses on staff benefits. The Company passed the 1SO45001
Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Certification in 2023. Through the international standard
certification process, we are able to identify deficiencies in the
area of staff “Occupational Safety and Health”, and focus on
improvement and enhancement, so that our staff can work in a
safe and healthy environment.

The high production cost continued to affect the PCB
industry in 2024. Followed by the sweep of emission limits
and environmental protection measures across China,
PCB manufacturers are facing steep challenges. As a PCB
manufacturer, the Group needs to formulate appropriate
responses and increase the capital input in respect of
environmental protection resulting in the set-off of part of the
profits of the Group.
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Although China remains to be the “World Factory”, labor costs
are no longer as low as a decade before and have gradually
increased. In addition, the labor supply is insufficient in the
coastal areas. The Group enhanced its production automation,
promoted the use and flow of production information, optimized
and improved costs and quality which could eventually lead the
Group to develop towards intelligent production in the future.

In 2024, amid protectionism, geopolitical tensions, inventory
buildup and the influence of various adverse factors, the
global economy underperformed compared to 2023. The PCB
industry is closely tied to global economic developments, and
with the exception of certain ones involved in the Al market,
most of the PCB manufacturers have kept abreast with the
trends in the overall context. The Group has been focusing
on the PCB business for more than 35 years, its accumulated
experience and network are conducive to its development in
the PCB market and its ability to respond to changes. With the
rapid progress of the urbanization in Shenzhen, the Shenzhen
Pingshan District Government has also made strategic planning
for promoting its local development. Given the increased labor
costs in Shenzhen and the need to maintain competitiveness
and respond to the future change in the planned use of the
current production area of Yan Tat Printed Circuits (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd., after consultation with the Board and the professional
advisers, the Group plans to establish another production base
in areas outside Pingshan, Shenzhen or in the Southeast Asia
to support the long-term development of the Group. Apart
from the Group’s headquarters in the PRC and the research
and development department which will remain located in
Pingshan District, Shenzhen, the bulk production capacity of the
Group will be relocated gradually to the new production base.
Meanwhile, the Group will also consider from time to time the
development of opportunities to maximize the interests for its
shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7 5] B8
in HK$'000 2024 2023
THET —E-MEF ==
Turnover 2] 579,537 629,430
Gross profit EH 146,190 167,070
Earnings before interest, taxes, FE -~ FIE - TEREHERTAT

depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") (TEBITDAJ) 81,844 106,710
Net profit 4 | 60,310 75,083

The Group’s revenue for the year of 2024 was approximately
HK$579.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately
7.9% compared to that of the previous year, which was primarily
attributable to the drop in sales orders.

The Group’s gross profit for the year of 2024 was approximately
HK$146.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
12.5% compared to that of the previous year. The Group’s
gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately 25.2%, representing a decrease of approximately
1.3% compared to approximately 26.5% for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly
due to the increment in production costs.

The Group's total operating expenses for the year of 2024 were
approximately HK$100.9 million, representing an increase of
approximately 3.6% compared to approximately HK$97.4 million
for the previous year, primarily due to the increase in general
and administrative expenses.

The Group's EBITDA amounted to approximately HK$81.8 million
for the year of 2024 as compared to approximately HK$106.7
million for the previous year.

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$60.3 million for the year of 2024 as compared
to approximately HK$75.1 million for the previous year.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains increased by approximately HK$9.2
million, or 42.0%, to approximately HK$31.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$21.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the
increase in bank interest income of approximately HK$8.1 million
and the increase in net foreign exchange gains of approximately
HK$1.6 million.
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Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
HK$0.1 million, or 0.5%, to approximately HK$20.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$20.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was
primarily due to the net effect of the decrease in commission of
approximately HK$1.3 million and the increase in transportation
cost of approximately HK$1.0 million.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$3.6 million, or 4.7%, to approximately HK$80.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$77.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was
primarily due to the increase in legal and professional fee of
approximately HK$2.5 million and the increase in consultancy
fee of approximately HK$1.1 million.

Other expenses

Other expenses increased by approximately HK$2.2 million, or
129.4%, to approximately HK$3.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately HK$1.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The increase was primarily due to the
increase in fair value losses on investment properties.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately HK$1.0 million, or
166.7%, to approximately HK$1.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 from approximately HK$0.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the increase in
bank loan interest resulting from an increase in bank borrowings
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company

The Group recorded profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$60.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 compared to approximately HK$75.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing
a decrease of approximately 19.7%. The decrease of profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
mainly due to the net effect of the decrease in gross profit of
approximately HK$20.9 million, the increase in other income and
gains of approximately HK$9.2 million, the increase in general
and administrative expenses of approximately HK$3.6 million,
the increase in other expenses of approximately HK$2.2 million,
and the decrease in income tax expense of approximately
HK$3.7 million.

HERDHAX
HERDHASYHBEE T -_=F+-_HA=+—Hit
FEHN203FEB TR D01 EESITH0E5% &
HE-_ZT-_MFE+_A=+—BILtFEH202E68E
Lo BRRBEZHNASRON13BEETRES
BRENAI0EEBTRFLENY -

—RRITHBEX
—RETBAYEEE T -_=F+=_A=+—H1
FEHNTIINABBTEMNY36EEBTLHLIT% &
BHE_Z-_NF+_A=+—HILFELL7TAEEE
T WIREBHRNEREREEEREMNY25588F
TR BRI BEB LA -

Hapx
HAxHEBE—Z-_=F+_A=+—HItEEY
1.7 EEBTENN22E8EBTK1294% ' EHEC
ToNF+_A=+—HIFEL30OBESBS T - BH
HIREBMMNMNEEYENA T EEIBE AT -

BhE KA
MERAHBEE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HIEFEYH
06BEEBITEALNI0EELEILK166.7%  EHEZ
ToNFE+ - A=+—BIFENI6EEET =&
HREBE T -_NE+-A=1t—HILEERNRTE
FRIEIMABUERITE KA E EFF -

ARBREBRBEFE ABMEER

BE_ZE_NF+_A=+—HILFE  KEEHE
ARAREREREAEABERFNE0IFES T &
BE T =F+_A=+—HUIFEHNIS1E5EB
TUR A #919.7% © AR A EBERREE AEN R FIR
DEERREFRMDL209BFEE T A KUk
WHIBMA2BERIL  —MERITHAEMA3.68
BT HM BN 22 BEB T« RAEHEX
BAOHZTEEBTFERE -

16 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



=g

Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

Property, plant and equipment

The net carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$276.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$2.3 million from that of 31 December 2023.
This was mainly due to the net effect of (i) the depreciation
of approximately HK$27.5 million with respect to the Group’s
property, plant and equipment in the current year, (ii) the
exchange realignment loss of approximately HK$6.3 million
due to the depreciation of RMB against HKD and (iii) the total
additions and transfer in during the year of approximately
HK$36.2 million.

Trade and bills receivables

There was a decrease in trade and bills receivables of
approximately HK$30.0 million as at 31 December 2024 as
compared to that as at 31 December 2023, which was mainly
due to the decrease in sales in the fourth quarter of 2024 as
compared to the fourth quarter of 2023.

Trade payables

There was a decrease in trade payables as at 31 December
2024 of approximately HK$5.6 million as compared to that as
at 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to the decrease
in purchases in the fourth quarter of 2024 as compared to the
fourth quarter of 2023.

Bank borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 in the
sum of approximately HK$59.4 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$26.3 million from the sum of approximately
HK$33.1 million as at 31 December 2023. The main reason for
the increase in borrowings was mainly due to the addition of
bank borrowings during the year. No financial instruments were
used for hedging purposes, nor were there any foreign currency
net investments hedged by current borrowings and/or other
hedging instruments.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$794.9 million (2023: HK$747.0 million)
including cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits
totalling approximately HK$557.3 million (2023: HK$494.7
million). As at 31 December 2024, the Group had non-current
liabilities of approximately HK$170.3 million (2023: HK$140.2
million), and its current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$208.3 million (2023: HK$207.9 million), consisting mainly
of payables arising in the normal course of operations and bank
borrowings for financing of production facilities. Accordingly,
the Group’s current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, was around 3.8 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
3.6).
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Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowings
over total equity, was approximately 0.08 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: approximately 0.05).

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year of 2024. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its customers. To manage liquidity risks, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to
time.

Foreign exchange exposure

As at 31 December 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade payables,
other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings which
are denominated in currencies other than Hong Kong dollar,
and consequently we have foreign exchange exposure from
translation of amounts denominated in foreign currencies as at
the reporting date. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group did not engage in any derivatives activities and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency exposure.

Capital structure

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company during the current and previous years. The capital
of the Company is comprised of ordinary shares and capital
reserves.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, capital commitments of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$27.7 million (2023: HK$6.4
million). The increase was mainly due to the Group entered into
new agreements to purchase machinery and equipment during
the year.

Dividend

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK6.0 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: HK10.0 cents per share).

The proposed dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting to be held on
Friday, 30 May 2025 and, if approved, is expected to be paid
on or about Thursday, 3 July 2025 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 11 June 2025. The dividend is declared and will be
paid in Hong Kong dollars.
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Dividend Policy

The Board regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
to ensure an optimal capital structure and shareholders’ return
when its dividend policy considers:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
o retained profits and distributable reserves of the Group;

o return on equity and other corresponding restrictions of
the Group;

o the Group’s capital requirement and surplus;
o the Group'’s liquidity position;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business, financial results and position of
the Company; and

. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continue to review the Group’s dividend policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under
the applicable laws and the Company’s Articles of Association.

Closure of the Register of Members

To determine the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company ("AGM")
to be held on Friday, 30 May 2025, the register of members
will be closed from Tuesday, 27 May 2025 to Friday, 30 May
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to be entitled to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26 May 2025.

In addition, to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the
dividend, the register of members will be closed from Friday, 6
June 2025 to Wednesday, 11 June 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to qualify for the entitlements to the dividend, all
completed transfers documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on Thursday, 5 June 2025.
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Information on employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 746 employees
(2023: 739 employees), including the executive Directors. Total
employee benefit expense (including Directors’ remuneration)
was approximately HK$95.2 million, as compared to
approximately HK$90.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. Remuneration is determined with reference to market
norms and individual employee’s performance, qualification and
experience.

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid with reference to
the Group's performance as well as the individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits include contributions to the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme in Hong Kong and various welfare plans
including the provision of pension funds, medical insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
our Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
existing policy requirements of the local PRC government as well
as share options.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept
at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.
The Group also operates a share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 18 November 2014 (“Share Option Scheme”)
where options to subscribe for shares may be granted to the
Directors and employees of the Group.

The Group considers its employees to be the foundation of
its enterprise development and is dedicated to fostering a
positive relationship. Central to this is providing a good working
environment that enhances employees’ sense of belonging,
safeguards their rights and interests, and offers a platform
conducive to the development of their talents and the realisation
of their values.

The Group develops a culture of employee recognition through
awarding various awards to eligible employees to recognise
outstanding performance and encourage innovation; such as
Long-Term Service Awards, Excellent Employee Awards, and
Innovation Awards.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 55 to 57 of this
annual report.

The Company did not grant any share option under the Share
Option Scheme during the current and prior years. Details
of remuneration of Directors and chief executive and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant investments held

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.
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Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

On 8 May 2020, the Group entered into, amongst others, a
cooperation agreement for the urban renewal project (the
“Urban Renewal Project”) located at our production base in
Pingshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC. The entering into of the
cooperation agreement and the transactions thereunder have
been approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting on 14 July 2020. As disclosed in
the Company’s announcements dated 24 June 2022, 14 October
2022, 1 December 2022 and 12 April 2023, payment schedule
of certain payment installments under the Urban Renewal
Project has been postponed at the request of the counterparty.
However, such payment installments have become due from and
payable by the counterparty, and remain outstanding as at the
date of this annual report. No further agreement has been made
between the parties to further postpone the payment schedule
nor the milestones of the Urban Renewal Project as at the date
of this annual report. The Company will continue to follow
up with the counterparty on, among other things, the status
of the outstanding payment installments and the subsequent
arrangements of the cooperation agreement. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 15 May 2020, 14
July 2020, 24 June 2022, 14 October 2022, 1 December 2022
and 12 April 2023, and the circular dated 24 June 2020.

On 24 February 2025, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with a vendor (being an independent
third party) in relation to the purchase of a land parcel and the
buildings erected thereon in Selangor, Malaysia (the “Property
Acquisition”) for a total consideration of Ringgit Malaysia
43,750,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$76,562,500),
subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent and
the terms and conditions set out therein. As at the date of this
annual report, the completion of the Property Acquisition has
not yet been materialised. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 February 2025. The
Company will publish a circular containing, among other things,
further details of the Property Acquisition and other information
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules, and further
announcement(s) in relation to the Property Acquisition as and
when necessary pursuant to the relevant requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

On 18 March 2025, the Group entered into certain construction
agreements with an independent third party constructor,
pursuant to which the constructor agreed to provide electrical
and mechanical works and interior works services to the Group
at an aggregate consideration of US$2,772,286 (equivalent to
approximately HK$21,568,385). For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2025.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, and except for potential
further investments and/or acquisitions of capital assets which
may be considered necessary by the Group in connection with
the expansion of its production base to Malaysia following the
Share Acquisition (as defined below) and the Property Acquisition
(the “Expansion Plan”), the Group had no future plans for
material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2024.
The Group will continue to assess its operational needs and
business development strategy from time to time, and any such
future investments or acquisitions will be subject to the evolving
circumstances arising from the Expansion Plan.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

On 21 February 2025, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreements with certain independent third parties (the “Selling
Shareholders”) in relation to the acquisition by the Group of the
entire issued share capital of Denshi Maruwa Industries (M) Sdn.
Bhd. (“Denshi Maruwa"”, a private limited company incorporated
in Malaysia, which is principally engaged in manufacturing PCBs)
for an aggregate consideration of US$1.1 million (the “Share
Acquisition”) subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions
precedent and the terms and conditions set out in the relevant
sale and purchase agreements. The completion of the Share
Acquisition will be implemented in tranches, and as at the date
of this annual report, the Group has completed the acquisition
of 53.4% of the issued share capital in Denshi Maruwa.

Charges on assets

As at 31 December 2024, certain assets of the Group as set out
below were charged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group:

(i)  investment property of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$4.0 million (2023: HK$5.8 million).

(i)  pledged deposits with banks amounting to approximately
HK$24.0 million (2023: HK$31.9 million).

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Prospects

In 2024, the global PCB industry experienced a recovery, driven
by cutting-edge demands such as Al, high-speed computing,
electric vehicles and 5G, which revitalized market vitality. High-
end products became the core engine of growth. However,
demand in other sectors and for mid-range products did not
show significant growth, leading to some manufacturers
experiencing declines. In 2025, the global PCB industry’s
growth momentum will continue to be driven by Al, automotive
electronics and 5G communications, together with PCB
inventories declining from their peak levels, market demand is
expected to rise.

In 2025, what we need to pay attention to is the risks of
existing regional conflicts in the world and the protectionism,
because the PRC’'s PCB industry accounts for a large share of
the world, therefore, it is impossible to avoid the impact of the
global economy and demand on the industry, and the economic
outlook will have a direct impact on the growth of the PCB
industry.

The impact of the pandemic in the previous years and the
international political instability in recent years has led to the
change in the deployment of global supply chain. In addition,
customers demand risk diversification and enhancement in PCB
industry in regions other than China, many PCB enterprises
are relocating their production bases from China to Malaysia,
Thailand and Vietnam, and therefore, Southeast Asia will
become a new PCB hub. However, as the building of factories
will take time, such new production capacities are unable to
contribute to revenue immediately. In the short term, gross
margins may decline due to equipment depreciation, and
additionally, the local PCB industry support is still insufficient to
threaten Chinese production enterprises in the short term, but in
the long term, this will still hinder the business environment of
Chinese production enterprises.

In conclusion, the challenges ahead are becoming more severe.
Although we have diversified markets and industry segments, a
broad base of quality customers and a strong defensive posture,
the unfavourable general environment will have a negative
impact on the Company. The Company is closely monitoring
external developments and its own internal customer order
situation and will make appropriate adjustments accordingly.

Events after reporting period

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other
significant events from the end of the reporting period up to the
date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS 5=

Our Board is responsible and has general powers for the =Z=EEBEEKMNEENEEL  WnlthER T LER
management and conduct of the business. The following table 77 - TREFINARE ABREEEETSXENER -
sets forth information regarding members of the Board as at the

date of this report:

Name Appointment Date Age
HE ZEEH Fie
Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Chan Wing Yin 8 July 2014 (Resigned on 1 January 2025) 75
PRECE S —T-—NFELANB(R=F=-AF—A—HET)

Mrs. Chan Yung 8 July 2014 75
PRELZ+ —ET-mFELHANA

Mr. Chan Yan Wing 8 July 2014 45
BREK e A4 —ZE-MFE+ANH

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong 1 November 2017 46
BREF A —E2—+HF+—H—H

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming 18 November 2014 77
ERAASTE —ZE-mE+—HA+N\R

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 18 November 2014 57
ERERIB ST —E-mE+—A+N\R

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 30 September 2016 74
2lasz 54 —E-RENA=TH

CHAIRMAN & EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FTERFTES

Mrs. Chan Yung (FRE), aged 75, is our chairman, executive [EX+ 756 AX/F G2 LRAEH -5
Director and vice president. She has participated in the —HARNFNLARLEAEENSE BT ARE
management of the Group since September 1996. Mrs. Chan ENEHBARMNER —REE - HL T BEEER
is one of the directors of four of our subsidiaries. Mrs. Chan is £ EMTH - HERY AR AEEC X ERBE L E
responsible for overseeing the administration, purchasing and B2 & 2¢R - [+ AL B A EMRE - AL
logistics of the Group, corporate strategic planning and overall A & [#E Bk fc AR5 -

business development of the Group. Mrs. Chan is the spouse of

Mr. Chan Wing Yin, and the mother of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

and Mr. Chan Yan Wing.

Mrs. Chan completed her secondary school education in Fujian 4+ — /< /\E N BEF BEEE 72 P EEe o
province, the PRC in June 1968.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Mr. Chan Yan Wing (FfZK), aged 45, is our chief executive
officer and executive Director. Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan
Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung, and the brother of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong. Mr. Chan is one of the directors of eleven of our
subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan has approximately 21 years of experience in the PCB
industry. Mr. Chan joined our Group in July 2003 and is primarily
responsible for corporate strategic planning and overall business
development, overseeing the sales and marketing of the Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from University of London in the United
Kingdom with a bachelor’s degree of science in Management
in August 2002. Since 2017 till now, Mr. Chan was elected as
a member of the Shenzhen Municipal Pingshan District Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and he has been a
member and the executive director of the Youth Committee
of Hong Kong Printed Circuit Association since January 2013,
October 2017 respectively. He has been the vice chairman of the
Fujian Chamber of Commerce in Shenzhen (RIIT@EE =)
since January 2012. Since 2019, he has served as the executive
director of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations and
the executive deputy director of the youth committee of the
association. Since 2019, he has served as the deputy secretary
of the Friends of Wuyi. Since 2020, he has served as the vice
chairman of Hong Kong Shenzhen Youth Association. Since
2020, he has served as vice chairman of the Hong Kong Youth
Development Alliance. Since March 2021, he has served as the
vice chairman of Hong Kong Ping Shan Youth Association, in
2023, he was selected as the Outstanding Young Entrepreneur
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area by the
Entrepreneur Alliance of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area. In 2024, he was selected as the Outstanding
Entrepreneur of Greater Bay Area by Hong Kong Commercial
Daily.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (FR&¥E), aged 75, was an executive
Director, who resigned on 1 January 2025. He is the founder
of the Group and has participated in the management of the
Group since January 1992. Prior to his resignation, Mr. Chan
was responsible for the corporate strategic planning and overall
business development and overseeing the administration of
the Group. Following his resignation as an executive Director,
Mr. Chan was appointed as a senior consultant of the Group,
further details of which are disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 20 December 2024. Mr. Chan is the spouse
of Mrs. Chan Yung, the father of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (the
non-executive Director) and Mr. Chan Yan Wing (the executive
Director).
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Before incorporation of Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited
("YT Industrial”) in 1992, Mr. Chan was a sole proprietor
conducting business under the name of Yan Tat (HK) Industrial
Co. from September 1989, which was primarily engaged in
the manufacturing of PCBs and which enabled Mr. Chan to
acquire relevant industry knowledge and accumulate relevant
experience. Mr. Chan has more than 35 years of experience in
the PCB production and sales.

Mr. Chan currently serves as the vice chairman of the Fujian
Chamber of Commerce in Shenzhen (EIIT1RERE ), the vice
chairman of The Employers’ Federation of Shenzhen (&I
HIEEH A D) since September 2004 and currently as the
honorary president of the highest ranking members (& 4% 3
8422 ER) since 2010. Mr. Chan is also currently the vice
chairman of China Printed Circuit Association (4 B EN&JEE 1T
%1%E) (CPCA) since March 2010. Mr. Chan was recognised as
“Pioneer Worker” by CPCA in 2012.

Mr. Chan attended his secondary school education in Fujian
province, the PRC from 1962 to 1964.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (BR B }¢), aged 46, is our non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs.
Chan Yung, and the brother of Mr. Chan Yan Wing. Mr. Chan is
one of the directors of seven of our subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan joined our Group in April 2011 and appointed as an
executive Director for the period from July 2014 to October
2017. He was primarily responsible for overseeing factory
expansion, information technology, human resources and
building management of the Group. Since November 2017,
he has been re-designated as a non-executive Director. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Chan worked at Benoy Limited (a private
architectural firm) from June 2006 to March 2011 with his last
position as a senior graphic designer where he was responsible
for coordinating project construction and installation and
architectural design. After his re-designation as non-executive
Director, he continues to advise the Board on operational
strategies of the Group and the furtherance of its business
portfolio. He also continues to develop in the area of project
construction and architectural design.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher diploma in graphic design in Hong
Kong Technical Colleges (currently known as Hong Kong Institute
of Vocational Education) in Hong Kong in September 1999. Mr.
Chan then graduated from London College of Printing (currently
known as London College of Communication) in the United
Kingdom in May 2002 and received a bachelor’s degree of arts
in Graphic and Media Design and was awarded a professional
development award in Print Production (Print Packaging and
Buying) in August 2002. He also obtained a master’s degree in
Interactive Digital Media at The University of Sussex in the United
Kingdom in November 2004. Mr. Chan has been a member of
the Youth Committee of Hong Kong Printed Circuit Association
since January 2013.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming (# £ 8), aged 77, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 18 November 2014.
Mr. Chung has over 35 years of experience in manufacturing of
motor cars, toys, electronics and communications. Mr. Chung
was the executive director of L.K. Technology Holdings Limited
(stock code: 558) and Kader Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 180). Both companies are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chung obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration in the University of East Asia (currently known as
University of Macau) in the Macau Special Administrative Region
in May 1989.

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen (£l)E8), aged 74, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 30 September 2016. He
is a retired banker. Mr. Lau held senior positions at the Bank of
East Asia, HSBC and Hang Seng Bank, he has over 37 years of
experience in the banking industry in Hong Kong, China and
Canada. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Hong Kong in July 1973. He was a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (E848#8), aged 57, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 18 November 2014. Mr.
Yau has over 29 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Mr. Yau has been working as financial controller and company
secretary of companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau had also
been working in international accounting firms.

Mr. Yau graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a bachelor’s degree of arts in Accountancy. Mr. Yau is
an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our executive Directors and senior management are responsible
for the day-to-day management of our business. The following
table sets out certain information concerning our senior
management as at the date of this report:

BREEE

HITEERSRERBEAERRERER - TR#D
RABERRERSRERE2ETER :

Name Age Positions within the Company

HE FiR REDBRZBIN

Mr. Lai Hau Yin 57  Chief financial officer and company secretary
REB x4 BREMBEERARWE

Mr. Leung Siu Yat 60  Vice president

RS BIAEE

Mr. Ho David Pei Yen 69  Vice president

BIRBREE Rt

Mr. Lai Hau Yin (2Z %), aged 57, was appointed as our
chief financial officer in March 2014 and our company secretary
in August 2014, and is mainly responsible for overseeing the
financial planning, accounting and company secretarial affairs
of our Group. Mr. Lai has more than 31 years of experience in
the areas of audit and accounting gained from various listed
companies and accounting firm in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lai is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2009, a certified
practising accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants since September 1996.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business from Deakin
University of Australia in Australia in December 1992, a master’s
degree in Business Administration from West Coast Institute
of Management & Technology in Australia in May 2000 (long
distance learning course).

Mr. Leung Siu Yat (R4 ), aged 60, first joined our Group as
a production manager and the vice president in November 2004,
and is mainly responsible for supervising and management of
the PCB factory production of our Group. Mr. Leung has over
31 years of experience in the PCB industry. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Leung worked for Ellington (Guangdong) Electronics
Technology Company Limited (a PCB manufacturer) as a deputy
general manager of a manufacturing factory from August 2000
to September 2004. From January 1997 to July 2000, he worked
for Kalex Printed Circuit Board Ltd. (a PCB manufacturer) with
his last position as an assistant production manager. From March
1986 to January 1997, Mr. Leung worked for Kalex Circuit
Board (Hong Kong) Ltd., a PCB manufacturer, as a production
superintendent. Mr. Leung was mainly responsible for overseeing
the factory operation and supervising the production staff in
these past positions. Mr. Leung completed his secondary school
education in Guangdong province, the PRC in July 1981.
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Mr. Ho David Pei Yen (E1#Z/&), aged 69, was appointed as
our vice president in January 2004 and is mainly responsible for
market development and product sales of our Group. Mr. Ho has
over 27 years of experience in the PCB industry. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Ho worked for Enigma Interconnect Corp.
(formerly known as Circuit Graphics Ltd, a PCB manufacturer)
in Canada with his last position as president from 1993 to
2002, where he was mainly responsible for implementing new
technologies in PCB production and business development.

Mr. Ho obtained a diploma of technology in mechanical
technology from British Columbia Institute of Technology,
Canada in June 1980. Mr. Ho was accredited as an associate
member of the Society of Engineering Technologists of British
Columbia in Canada in June 1980.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lai Hau Yin (B2 &) has been the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of our Company since March
2014 and August 2014, respectively. His biographical details
are set out in the above section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile — Senior Management”.
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

Corporate Culture

Upholding our corporate belief of “Goal, Planning, Implement,
Direction, Mission, Value”, we realize the spirit of “forging
ahead, working our way up to the top” to face various
opportunities and challenges amid the ever-changing world
trend and highly competitive business environment with passion,
diligence and intelligence. We continue to gain customer trust
and boldly work hand-in-hand towards reaching our goal.

Goal:

The long-term development goal of the Company is to be a
world-class enterprise which delivers world-renowned products
and services of the best quality.

Planning:
With keen business acumen, we make every effort to formulate
all-rounded, precise, and feasible plans.

Implement:
We need to be united, meticulous, efficient, precise and
persistent.

Direction:

Amid the ever-changing world-trend and the highly competitive
business environment, we timely formulate our strategic
direction. We boldly transform to keep up with the times.

Mission:

We nurture a corporate team with all-rounded development
in “morality, intellect, physique”. With united wisdom and
strength, we scale the heights of technology. We satisfy the
demand of our customers with quality products and excellent
service attitude. Our trilateral cooperation with our suppliers and
customers allows us to share the success and give back to the
society.

Value:

We adhere to honesty and keep our promises. With quality
as our core value, we strive for a win-win situation with our
stakeholders.
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Corporate Strategy

To realize the goal of creating long-term value for the
Shareholders and other stakeholders, the Group focuses
on producing high-quality circuit boards and enhancing the
production and management procedures by world-recognized
quality and management systems such as ISO 9001, ISO
14001 and IATF 16949 to ensure each piece of high-quality
circuit board produced satisfies the needs of the downstream
industry. By stressing on diversity in our market position, we can
supply products for various downstream markets and regional
segments. With good business acumen, we respond to market
changes and strive for various opportunities. In view of the global
aging population and the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company
has successfully obtained ISO 13485 quality system certification
for circuit boards used in medical equipment in 2022, laying
the foundation to step into the medical equipment market. The
Company establishes solid long-term relationships with suppliers
and customers and has cooperated with some of them for over
a decade. Under the basis of mutual trust, the flow of supply has
been more smooth and stable.

Meanwhile, the Group continues to focus on environment,
society and governance and abide by the laws and regulations to
contribute to a green, healthy, inclusive and diversified lifestyle
of our next generation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of
the top priorities of the Company. The Board believes that
good corporate governance is one of the areas that leads to
the success of the Company and in balancing the interests
of shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board
is devoted to ongoing enhancements of the efficiency and
effectiveness of such principles and practices.

From 1 January 2024 up to the date of this annual report,
the Company had complied with the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard,
to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements
and to meet the rising expectations of the shareholders and
investors.
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CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings of the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiries to all the Directors, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard
of dealings set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, two of which are
executive Directors, one is a non-executive Director, and three
are independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mrs. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (Resigned on 1 January 2025)
Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Mr. Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung. They are
the parents of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (a non-executive Director)
and Mr. Chan Yan Wing (an executive Director). Save as
disclosed in this report, there are no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships among members of the
Board.

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the
section “Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 24
to 29.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS
MEETINGS
Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board

meetings, committee meetings and shareholder meetings held
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:
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BEZI

Directors’ Attendance Attended/Held

ESHRRY BTRY
Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Ezees EEEE  FMZEE REZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors YTES
Mrs. Chan Yung (Chairman) BEXL(FE) 4/4 NAT @R NAT @R NATEF /1
Mr. Chan Wing Yin BREBEAE 444 N/ANEF N/ATNEF N/A T F 17
Mr. Chan Yan Wing BREK LA 44 N/ANiE A 1 11 1/1
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong BRE N FEAE 44 N/ATE 1/1 1/1 1/1
Independent Non-executive ~ BIUFHITES
Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming BEEHLE 4/4 212 11 1 1/1
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu EREBEE 444 22 11 11 17
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen BB &£ 4/4 22 17 1N 17
BOARD MEETINGS EEge;

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operational and financial performance
of the Company. Other Board meetings will be held when
necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active participation,
either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. For the year ended 31
December 2024, four Board meetings were held.

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for
attending regular and other Board meetings. Meeting agendas
and other relevant information are provided to the Directors in
advance of Board meetings. All Directors are consulted to include
additional matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all
applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comment and records. Minutes of Board
meetings are kept by the company secretary and such minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
prior notice by any Director.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, one general meeting
was held.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing
the Company’s affairs, including the responsibilities for
the adoption of long-term strategies and appointing and
supervising senior management to ensure that the operation
of the Group is conducted in accordance with the objective of
the Group. The Board is also responsible for determining the
Company’s corporate governance policies which include: (i) to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) to review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain
responsibilities are delegated to various Board committees which
have been established by the Board to deal with different aspects
of the Company’s affairs. Unless otherwise specified in their
respective written terms of reference as approved by the Board,
these Board committees are governed by the Company’s articles
of association as well as the Board'’s policies and practices (in so
far as the same are not in conflict with the provisions contained
in the articles of association). With the new composition of
members of the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the audit committee, the independent non-
executive Directors will be able to effectively devote their time to
perform the duties required by the respective Board committees.

The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing
its strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management
of the Company under the leadership of the executive Directors.
Clear guidance has been made as to the matters that should
be reserved to the Board for its decision which include matters
on, inter alia, capital, finance and financial reporting, risk
management and internal controls, communication with
shareholders, Board membership, delegation of authority and
corporate governance.
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. The financial statements set out
on pages 69 to 148 were prepared on the basis set out in note
2.1 to the consolidated financial statements. Financial results
of the Group are announced in a timely manner in accordance
with statutory and/or regulatory requirements. The declaration
of reporting responsibility issued by the external auditors of the
Company on the Company’s financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 64 to 68.

There is no non-compliance with rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

In assessing the re-election of Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (“Mr. Yau"),
the nomination committee of the Company and the Board have
considered, among others, Mr. Yau’s contribution and service to
the Company, his expertise and professional qualifications, and
believe that Mr. Yau is still independent.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

(1) the Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors should be reviewed
by the nomination committee of the Company on an
annual basis, in particular the portion of the independent
non-executive Directors and the independence of the
independent non-executive director who has served for
more than nine years;

(2) a written confirmation was received by the Company
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to his
independence to the Company. The Company considers all
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent;

(3) in view of good corporate governance practices and to
avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company’s
controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the
controlling shareholders, would abstain from voting in the
relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates;
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(4) the chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually; and

(5) all members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has
reviewed the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and
considered that the implementation of the mechanisms was
effective.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors have
been given relevant guideline materials and attended a training
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director,
the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors,
duty of disclosure of interest and business of the Group. Such
induction materials and briefings will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors
will be arranged whenever necessary.

All Directors have provided record of training attendance, and
the Company will continue to arrange and/or fund the training
in accordance with the Code Provisions.

During the year, all Directors pursued continuous professional
development, and relevant details are set out below:

Name of Directors
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Types of training

BEEfE st
Executive Directors HITES

Mrs. Chan Yung PREZ L AB
Mr. Chan Wing Yin PRECE 4 AB
Mr. Chan Yan Wing PR B K S A A, B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong PR B S A& A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming EERRALA A, B
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu eSS A'B
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 21182 55 A4 A, B
Remarks: I

A — Attending conferences/forums/seminars
B — Reading journals/updates/articles/materials
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company had complied with this code
provision during the year ended 31 December 2024.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, where each of the non-executive
Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company. Such
term is for an initial term of three years commencing from the
date of listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange,
i.e., 8 December 2014 (the “Listing Date"”) (except for Mr. Lau
Shun Chuen and Mr. Chan Yan Kwong, whose term is for three
years commencing from their respective dates of appointment)
and shall continue subject to termination by either party in
accordance with the terms thereof and the retirement and re-
election provisions in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each annual general meeting (“AGM") one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation.
However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one third shall
be the number of retiring Directors. The Directors who shall
retire in each year will be those who have been longest in the
office since their last re-election or appointment but as between
persons who become or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by the Company. Such
retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
of shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-
election.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors on 18 November 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code Provisions. Its
terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
The nomination committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Shun Chuen (Chairman), Mr.
Chung Yuk Ming and Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, one executive Director,
namely Mr. Chan Yan Wing, and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwong.

For the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the structure of the Board and
recommended to the Board for reappointment of all directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee also determined the criteria of the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”).

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
nomination committee will carry out the selection process
by making reference to the skills, experience, education
background, professional knowledge, personal integrity and
time commitments of the proposed candidates, and also the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations required for the positions. All candidates must
be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and
3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed
as an independent non-executive Director should also meet the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the Board for
approval.
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To enhance the quality of the performance of the Board and
to achieve diversity on the Board, the Board adopted on 18
November 2014 the Board Diversity Policy, pursuant to which
(i) differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of
the Board; and (ii) all Board appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).
For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive directors;

(B) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(C) atleast 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in; and

(D) at least two of the members of the Board shall have China-
related work experience.

The Board currently has one female Director out of seven
Directors, and is committed to improving gender diversity as
and when suitable candidates are identified. The Company is of
the view that gender diversity in respect of the Board has been
achieved. Of the 746 employees (including senior management)
of the Group as at 31 December 2024, 275 are female.
Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is also
achieved in its workforce generally.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has fulfilled
the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 18 November 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 and
Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the remuneration committee was adopted in compliance with
the Code Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of the Group and ensure none of the Directors determine their
own remuneration. The emoluments of executive Directors
are determined based on the skills, knowledge, individual
performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility
and accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration of
the Company'’s performance and prevailing market conditions.
The remuneration policy of independent non-executive Directors
is to ensure that the independent non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to
the Company'’s affairs including their participation in respective
Board committees. The emoluments of independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their skills, experience,
knowledge, duties and market trends. All emoluments of the
Directors and chief executive are covered by their service contracts
or letters of appointment. As at the date of this annual report,
the remuneration committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Yuk Ming (Chairman), Mr.
Lau Shun Chuen and Mr. Yau Wing Yiu, one executive Director,
namely Mr. Chan Yan Wing and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwong.

Details of remuneration of Directors and chief executive are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration band
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Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting in which it assessed the performance, reviewed
and determined the remuneration package (including reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes, where
applicable) of the directors and senior management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Director passed on 18 November 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 and
Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the audit committee was adopted in compliance with the Code
Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the audit committee, among other things,
are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor, review the
financial statements and material advice in respect of financial
reporting and oversees risk management and internal control
procedures of the Company. As at the date of this annual report,
the audit committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Chairman), Mr. Lau Shun
Chuen and Mr. Chung Yuk Ming.

During the year, the Audit Committee members met twice with
the external auditors and the Group’s senior management to
discuss and review, among other things, the following matters:

(@  the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2024 to ensure the full, complete and accurate disclosure
in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the
accounting standards and other legal requirements for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b) the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst
& Young as external auditors to perform the audit of final
results for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
review on the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2024,

(0 the independence of the external auditors especially for
those non-audit services;

(d)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

(e)  the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
controls;

(f)  the overall effectiveness of its internal audit function; and
(9) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience

of staff and the accounting and financial reporting matters
and their training programmes and budget.
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The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity
of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external
auditors for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report, the Board has not taken a different view from the
audit committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditors.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the Company engaged Ernst & Young as the
external auditors. Apart from providing audit services, Ernst &
Young also provided non-audit services including: i) taxation
services; ii) review of interim financial information; and iii) certain
procedures on the annual result announcement. The fees in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by Ernst &
Young for the year ended 31 December 2024 approximately
amounted to HK$ 1,640,000 and HK$1,363,100, respectively.

The reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 64 to 68.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lai Hau Yin being our company secretary is primarily
responsible for the company secretarial work of our Group. Mr.
Lai is also our Company’s chief financial officer. The Company
confirms that Mr. Lai has for the year 2024 attended no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code by establishing appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation
and monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described in the sections below:
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Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

The management assesses the potential risks faced by the
Group from time to time, which is also evaluated annually
by a professional institute engaged by the Group. This year's
evaluation covered the period from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2024, no significant
risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present
and functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent
a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

The management assesses the internal control system of the
Group from time to time, which is also evaluated annually by a
professional institution engaged by the Group. The professional
institution has completed the evaluation for the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. Based on the internal
control reviews conducted, no significant control deficiency was
identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA") function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise. The 1A
function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

An A plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.
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The Board, through its review and the review made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience
of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and
budget provided were sufficient.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") of
the Company are prepared in accordance with the articles of
association as follows:

(1) One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right to vote at general
meetings, shall have the right, by written notice, to require
an EGM to be called by the Directors of the Company
for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

(2)  Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Room 809-810, Kwong Sang Hong Centre,
151-153 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: ir@yantat.com

Attention: Mr. Lai Hau Yin

Registered office of the Company

Address: Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350 Grand Cayman
KY-1108 Cayman Islands
Attention: Mr. Lai Hau Yin

(3)  The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

(4) If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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For matters in relation to the Board, the shareholders can contact
the Company at the following:

By post to the Company’s headquarter in Hong Kong
By email to ir@yantat.com
Attention to Company Secretary, Mr. Lai Hau Yin

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his or her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his or her detailed contact information at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. Such
contact address is Room 809-810, Kwong Sang Hong Centre,
151-153 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
attention to Company Secretary, Mr. Lai Hau Yin.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include
the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(1) At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of ordinary resolution of the Company.

(2) At least 21 days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an EGM of the Company or an ordinary resolution of the
Company in an annual general meeting of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining
a high level of transparency is a key to enhancing investor
relations. The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investing public.

The Company has developed a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure balanced and understandable information about
the Company are readily available to Shareholders.

Shareholders may raise questions or make a request through
designated channels for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available. Please refer to pages
4 and 45 of this Annual Report for the address of the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and contact details of the
Company. Shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services
Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, for
questions about their shareholdings.
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Information of the Company is also communicated
to Shareholders through the Company’s Corporate
Communications, including but not limited to financial reports
(interim and annual reports), announcements and circulars. Such
publications are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Corporate Communications shall be
in plain language, and Shareholders have the right to choose
English and/or Chinese version or means of receipt of such
Corporate Communications to facilitate understandable, timely
and environmental friendly communication.

Information on the Company’s website (www.yantat.com)
is updated on a regular basis. A dedicated Investor Relations
section is available with presentation materials and webcasts of
the Company’s interim and annual results briefings provided in
conjunction with the Company’s results announcements as soon
as practicable after release to the public. Press releases and other
Corporate Communications of the Group are also available on
the Company’s website.

General meetings are held at least annually whereby there are
opportunities for the Company to have direct interactions with
Shareholders. Board members, in particular, the chairmen of
Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives and external auditors will attend annual general
meetings to answer questions from Shareholders and their
appointed proxies. The process of the Company’s general
meetings is monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and if
necessary, changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’
needs are best served.

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy.
Shareholders’ privacy is protected under the Shareholders
Communication Policy and Shareholders’ information will not be
disclosed without their consent, unless required by law to do so.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication
Policy. With the above measures in place, the Shareholders
Communication Policy is considered to have been effectively
implemented.

During the year, there has been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

=g

ARRBER IR EBARRR R BB FBRREE
BRETRRMBRE (PHHRERFR)  XEMNBE
B S5 AR E LB AR R KB P,
RlRESE  REXREOER  QRFBAENER
BT BRREEERBEXR, /P XRA - AR
BEBERRARBANSR

AN B 48k (www.yantat.com) ATl & R E EHIE 57 -
WABEREEBRER  SEARARRARERHR
HREFEBENEREERUTHELTER EHFEE
NE W HREEEE RS LM EN KRS
WA LEERE ASENFERRETCARBATE £
EBA A RAE -

ARREBFELBIT-RBRRAE  BARREHRE
HRREXEY EEEKNE(LEREZEHE X8
THEIFHEAR) - BENTREEAB RIMNEZE
fhg HFEBRAF AL ERR AR ERRNER -
ARREERMEHMRTRRASERF  ARERE
{EHERE) - ARERUIGIRER -

ARRABERBEREROMLE - RERLEZ(RRBRABE)

R - BRIDEREFR > BARERRASTERER

FARRBE R BREBABERANATIERRBRIE -
BRI T Bl - BRERBABRERACFEE
BT ©

FAXARRERXHHESKES -

BE —_E_RAF=HA=+XA

RESEZRERDAE / F3k 2024 47



Report of the Directors

EEEWE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Consolidated
Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and those of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Further
discussion and analysis of these activities and indication of likely
future development in the Company’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws
of Hong Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) can be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” set out on pages 5 to
7 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
10 to 23 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this
report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 69
to 148.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK6.0
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK10.0 cents per share).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 9. This summary
does not form part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 25 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 31 December 2024, the investment properties of the
Group were revalued by an independent firm of professional
surveyor and property valuer on an open market value basis at
HK$22,062,000 (2023: HK$25,844,000).

REWE

R-E-_NMFE+—_A=+—08 AEEREWELE
VEENEMMMELEMRAZARMERELESY
722,062,000 70 (—Z — =4 : 25,844,000/87T) °

Details of these and other movements during the year in the AREBIREME Y Ll BEE M FRNEMET 2 FEEH

investment properties of the Group are set out below and in AT MiRE B SREMTE14 -
note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Property location Existing use Term of lease

LES: 1 REFAE EizR:t
1. Unit 2705, Level 27, Tongda Chuangye Building, No.1, Alley 600, Commercial Long
Tianshan Road, Changning District, Shanghai The PRC
HE EETMRERXILE 6007 1K RZAIZEAE 2712705 % [EHES =31
2. Flat 1812, 1912, 2012, 2112, 2206, 2306, 2402, 2406 and 2506, Residential Long
Block B, Elife Park, Yanziling Third Road, Pingshan New District,
Shenzhen, The PRC
RERIITFILERFE= 7 EEBFR 1812 1912~ 2012 T=E 31

2112 ~ 2206 ~ 2306 * 2402 * 2406 [ 2506 =

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 73 and 74 of this
annual report and note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company'’s distributable reserves,
calculated under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$64.4 million (2023:
HK$63.0 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales attributable to the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers accounted for approximately 21.2% and
57.0% (2023: 23.3% and 57.2%) respectively of the Group's
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
purchases made by the Group from its largest supplier and the
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 25.0% and
64.3% (2023: 20.7% and 56.2%) of the Group's total purchases
for the year ended 31 December 2024, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors,
their close associates, nor any shareholders who owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.

The Company establishes solid long-term relationships with its
suppliers and customers and has cooperated with some of them
for over a decade.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into, or existed, during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of
the Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board of the
Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SUBSIDIARIES

The details of the major subsidiaries of the Company are set out
in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group's total capital expenditure amounted
to approximately HK$29.2 million (2023: HK$12.5 million) which
was mainly used for acquisition of machineries and equipment.

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2024 date are set out in note 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The details of the Group’s charges on assets are set
out on page 22.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mrs. Chan Yung (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (Resigned on 1 January 2025)
Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
and shall continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meeting and until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the letter of appointment.

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within 1 year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all of them are considered
to be independent.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the existing Directors shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director of the
Company or an entity connected with such Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
business of the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” on pages 24 to 29 of this annual
report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the prospectus of
the Company dated 26 November 2014 (the “Prospectus”),
there was no contract of significance or contract of significance
for provision of services, to which the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries had a material interest
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of non-
competition undertaking.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus.

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the controlling
shareholders have become effective from the Listing Date.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director of
the Company has made an annual declaration in respect of their
compliance with the terms of non-competition undertaking.

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the executive
Directors and non-executive Director have become effective from
the Listing Date.
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The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and
confirmed that the executive Directors and non-executive
Director of the Company have complied with the non-
competition undertaking and the non-competition undertaking
has been enforced by the Company in accordance with its terms.

NEW BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY

There was no New Opportunity (as defined in the Prospectus
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings”) referred by the controlling
shareholders to the Company as provided under the non-
competition undertaking.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance had been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling
shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following continuing
connected transactions (as defined under the Listing Rules) for
the year ended 31 December 2024:

(1) On 23 October 2023, Yan Tat Technology Limited (“YT
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a lease agreement (“Yantek Lease”)
with Yantek Electronics Company Limited (“Yantek”), a
connected person of the Company within the meanings
of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Yantek Lease, YT
Technology shall lease from Yantek the premises situated
at Flat E on 15th Floor and Flat Roof immediately above
of Tower 5 and Car Parking Space No. 11 on Car Park BT,
One Beacon Hill, No. 1 Beacon Hill Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong with a gross total floor area of approximately 1,473
square feet at a monthly rental of HK$58,000 for a term
of 2 years commencing from 1 November 2023 (total
consideration: HK$1,392,000). The lease term is from 1
November 2023 to 31 October 2025 as staff quarter for
Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung.
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(2)  On 2 November 2022, YT Technology renewed a tenancy
agreement (“Headquarters Lease”) with Yantek, a
connected person of the Company within the meanings of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Headquarters Lease, YT
Technology shall lease from Yantek the office premises and
warehouse located at Room 09, 10 and 14 on 8th Floor,
Kwong Sang Hong Centre, Nos. 151-153 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly rental
of HK$90,000 for a term of 2 years commencing on 25
November 2022 and ending on 24 November 2024 for the
Group's use (total consideration: HK$2,160,000). The lease
was renewed for two years on 28 October 2024, with
a term from 25 November 2024 to 24 November 2026,
with a monthly rent of HK$94,000 (total consideration:
HK$2,256,000).

Yantek is beneficially owned as to 34% by Mr. Chan Yan Wing,
33% by Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 33% by Ms. Chan Yan Sam.
Mr. Chan Yan Wing and Mr. Chan Yan Kwong are the Directors
of the Company. Ms. Chan Yan Sam is the sister of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong and Mr. Chan Yan Wing and the daughter of Mr.
Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung.

The continuing connected transactions mentioned above are
fully exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement
requirements and the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and in their opinion, the transactions are:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and (3) in accordance
with the agreement governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of significant related party
transactions, which do not constitute connected transactions,
made during the year is disclosed in note 31 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Company confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company'’s Share Option Scheme was approved for adoption
pursuant to a written resolution of all of our Shareholders
passed on 18 November 2014 for the purpose to provide our
Company with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to eligible
participants and for such other purposes as the Board approve
from time to time. The Share Option Scheme was valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the adoption date of 18
November 2014, and has been expired on 17 November 2024.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their absolute discretion, grant or invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes to take up options to
subscribe for shares: (a) any employee, supplier, service provider,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Group (including
any director, whether executive and whether independent or
not, of the Group) who is in full-time or part-time employment
with the Company or any subsidiaries; and (b) any person who
have contributed or may contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 8
December 2014 unless the Company seeks the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit
under the Share Option Scheme provided that options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating 10% limit.

Details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set
out in paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section
headed “Statutory and General Information” in Appendix V to
the Prospectus. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme
are summarised as follows:

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 18 November 2014 and remained in force
until 17 November 2024. The Company may, by resolution
in general meeting or, such date as the Board determined,
terminate the Share Option Scheme at any time without
prejudice to the exercise of options granted prior to such
termination.
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The exercise price per share of the Company for each option
granted shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but in any event shall be at least the higher of:

(1)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
guotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer for the grant of option (“Date of Grant”)
which must be a trading day;

(2) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant; and

(3) the nominal value of the shares on the Date of Grant.

Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00
to the Company as consideration for the grant. The acceptance
of an offer of the grant of the option must be made within the
date as specified in the offer letter issued by the Company. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years commencing on the
date of grant and expiring on the last day of such 10-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The rules of the Share Option Scheme
do not restrictively specify the vesting period of options granted
thereunder.

The total number of new shares of the Company that may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share options schemes
of the Company shall not exceed 24,000,000 shares, which
represents 10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at
the date of this report. The total number of new shares of the
Company available for grant under the scheme mandate of the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year
ended 31 December 2024 are 24,000,000 shares and nil shares,
respectively.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
grantee under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to issuance of a circular by the Company and approved by its
shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-
executive directors. In addition, any grant of share options to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.
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Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

From the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme to 17
November 2024 (10 years effective period), no options were
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Additional particulars of the Company’s Share Option Scheme
are set out in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Apart from the aforesaid share option schemes, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2024 was any of the
Company and its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age
18, had any right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures
of, the Company, or had exercise any such right.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had the following interests in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its Group
members and/or associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing Rules:
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The Company AN

Number of
ordinary

Name of Capacity/ shares held Percentage of

Name of Director Group member nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
BFEEBERYE

EEHA SEREATNNEE B H#EmktE (BzE1) ERESL

Mr. Chan Wing Yin The Company Interest in a controlled 180,000,000 75%
corporation (Note 2) shares (L)
PREEE %4 VNN i hlEE R (i 2) 180,000,000
& (L)

Mrs. Chan Yung The Company Interest of spouse (Note 3) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
PREE 224 ¥iN/NE] fo i@z (3E3) 180,000,000
A% (L)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company or the relevant associated corporation

2. The Company is held as to approximately 75% by Million Pearl Holdings
Ltd. (“Million Pearl”). Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin
and 30% by Mrs. Chan Yung. Mr. Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs.
Chan Yung. Under the SFO, Mr. Chan Wing Yin is taken to be interested in
the same number of shares in which Mrs. Chan Yung is interested.

3. Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs.
Chan Yung. Mrs. Chan Yung is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin. Under
the SFO, Mrs. Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of
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2. ZXA &) Million Pearl Holdings Ltd. (['Million Pearl |)# & 4975%
#Ezs o Million Pearl PR &8 B o5 4 KRR B L+ 5 RI#EH 70% K&
30% s - REB R EARBLZ LR - RIEFHFRHARIE
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3. Million Pearl 93 BIl 5 R 58 B 5% & KR BR BB X 5 8 70% K 30% #E
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shares to which Mr. Chan Wing Yin is interested. g o
Associated Corporation FHEEE
Number of Percentage of
Name of ordinary shareholding in
associated Capacity/ shares held the associated
Name of Director corporation nature of interest (Note 1) corporation
BESERYE RAEBEEERN
EEgE HEEE S B B4 Rt (M¥=E1) BREDL
Mr. Chan Wing Yin Million Pearl Beneficial owner/ 10 shares 100%
Interest of spouse
PRECE 4 EnAATiBE=E 100%
Mrs. Chan Yung Million Pearl Beneficial owner/ 10 shares 100%
Interest of spouse
PREZ+ EnA A TeBER 100%
Note: B &
1. The disclosed interest represents the interests in the associated corporation, 1. FR4% EEAE 2545 HAAEEE @ Million Pearl FOMERS - ERRAB LA

Million Pearl, which is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30%
by Mrs. Chan Yung. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs.
Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
other is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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FERREEMATRAQRFREG RAEER
BRZERR KB

RZE-_WNF+—_A=+—H ' ®ESFHM UATA
T+ /ER(EEIAQAEBTHRABRIN REAAT
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HRIKR - RIBEES R EIEHF 336 1K A
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Number of
ordinary Percentage of
shares held interest in
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) the Company
BEEEREE RAEQATZ
BREW HE 51 RmtE (FzE1) EREIL
Million Pearl (Note 2) Beneficial owner 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
Million Pearl (Bif5E2) BB A 180,000,000 A% (L)
Mr. Chan Wing Yin Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
PRECE 4 R EE s (e 3) 180,000,000 f% (L)
Mrs. Chan Yung Interest of spouse (Note 4) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)

PREZ T+ e (FI7E4)
Notes:
1. The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the

Company or the relevant Group member.
2. Million Pearl is directly interested in approximately 75% of the Company.

3. The Company is held as to approximately 75% by Million Pearl. Million Pearl
is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs. Chan Yung. Mr.
Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung. Under the SFO, Mr. Chan
Wing Yin is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
Mrs. Chan Yung is interested.

4. Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs.
Chan Yung. Mrs. Chan Yung is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin. Under
the SFO, Mrs. Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of
shares in which Mr. Chan Wing Yin is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons/entities (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

180,000,000 A% (L)
M
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2. Million Pearl B 5 A A R4 75% M4z o

3. N2 7] Million Pearl 5 7 #975% # 7% ° Million Pearl i FR 48 B
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this
annual report, none of the Directors or substantial shareholders
of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests
with the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither did the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed
securities (including sale of treasury shares, if any).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding the
Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year under review and up to the date of
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages
30 to 47 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up to review the
Company’s emolument policy and structure of all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market practices. No long-term
incentive schemes have been adopted by the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals

with highest emoluments are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group produces PCB in China and sells them around the
world, and is faced with certain different types of risks and
uncertainties. The principal items are listed as below.

vi.

Vii.

The Group derives a significant portion of its revenue from
major customers, particularly automobile customers. The
decrease in demand from major customers may materially
and adversely affect the business.

Fluctuation in exchange rates may adversely affect the
business.

The Group may be subject to any labour shortages,
increased labour cost or other factors affecting labour
force, or full implementation of social security and public
housing policies, which may materially affect the Group's
business operation and financial condition.

The PRC government has tightened its environmental
regulation. Although the Group’s current operation falls
in line with the requirement, it may be affected and incur
additional expenses when the relevant regulatory threshold
is raised further in the future.

As a result of trade frictions between the PRC and some
of its major trading partners, factories in the PRC may be
subject to import and export restrictions and tariffs, which
may affect their export business, supply of raw materials
and equipment and profits.

Currently, various PCB manufacturers are vigorously
expanding their production capacity. When the market
fails to meet the development expectation, the excessive
production capacity will result in irrational competition
among industrial peers, pushing down the unit price and
diminishing the company’s profitability.

The Group's sole production facility is based in Shenzhen.
If this facility experiences any issue that results in a lower
production output, and no third-party assistance is
identified, our sales will decline.
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viii. The Group’s major production operation activities take
place in Mainland China. Any change to the policies in
Mainland China (including taxation, foreign exchange
control, and imports and exports) is likely to affect the
Group's overall performance.

ix.  The persistence of war between Russia and Ukraine results
in frequent geopolitical conflicts and oppositions between
countries and thus has an impact on normal transactions
and increased development risks of each industry.

X. Overseas customers would like to realize the “China Plus
One” concept in their supply chain to reduce their reliance
in Chinese suppliers. They would like to look for alternative
suppliers outside China, thus reducing procurements of
Chinese factories in the future.

xi. ~ PCB raw materials account for a very high proportion
of the overall cost, especially relying on copper, gold,
silver and other metals and chemical raw materials. The
international market supply and demand and the global
macroeconomic environment have a greater impact on the
prices of the relevant raw materials and price fluctuations
may have a direct impact on the factories’ production
costs.

xi. The new U.S. administration has taken office, and
the impact of its internal and external policies on the
global market remains to be seen. However, the recent
introduction of increased import tariffs on certain goods is
unfavorable for China’s export market.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental protection is a collective responsibility not to
be ignored. The Group’s production factories in Shenzhen,
China possesses state-of-the-art PCB technologies and attaches
a great importance to environmental protection. The Group
recognises that the production process of PCBs would generate
more emissions than some other industries. In regard of this,
we strive to enhance the efficiency of environmental protection.
The Group sets up different management requirements for
environmental protection every year, aiming at reducing negative
impact on the environment from our operation. We have
obtained certification of IATF16949:2016 (quality assurance),
ISO14001 (environment management system), ISO9001 (quality
management system), 1SO13485:2016 (quality assurance for
medical devices), AS9100D (quality management system), UL-
796 (safety and management) and ISO45001 (occupational
health and safety management system) for PCB quality standard
and environment management system.
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The Group strictly observed the laws and regulations governing
air pollution, noise pollution, hazardous chemicals, sewage and
waste discharge and other environmental matters issued by PRC
national, provincial and municipal governments and authorities.
Meanwhile, as a responsible corporation, we produce all of
our products in compliance with the requirement of Cleaner
Production Standard: Printed Circuit Board Manufacturing (/&
BEERE  ERIERREEE) issued by the Ministry of
Environmental Protection of China.

With resources in the Earth becoming increasingly scarce,
corporations should have long-term vision instead of focusing
on existing interests. The Group sees that there are economic
benefits to be capitalized in environmental protection and our
effort focuses chiefly in the following aspects, among others:
actively pushing forward the initiative of energy conservation
and consumption reduction by saving energy, water, material
and reducing resource consumption during the course of our
production, with a view to maximizing the cost effectiveness
with minimal resources; and full implementation of clean
production to achieve waste reduction at source. At the same
time, under the guidance of a paperless office, the Group
introduced the Enterprise Resources Planning System (“ERP”
System), through which it implemented electronic management
on the its production, sales, supply chain, and human resources
with a view to saving paper.

The environmental, social and governance report in Compliance
with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules will be issued at the same
time as the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
External compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure
transactions and business performed by the Group are within
the applicable legal framework. Updates on applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and operation units from time to time.

By order of the Board

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
CHAN Yung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

=g

AEBBFETRTEBAK - S0E BT REEE
MREZERISR  BESH  mRICBMm - I5KKRE
MHBRREMBREEERNERIER - BULRE - £
REEENGE  BMMERHBERRRELEMANS
REERE : ORI ERREEXENEREERNRAR
BEM °

WHRERTERD  CEETRRETERERRA
e ARBEENUTETELE  URFREREHE
ME - B - EEHEEERERE - A EBIZPERE -
gk - B4 R EIRERE - R AR DB EIRER
RANKERS  2EMETEREE - WIRERE
R AEEH#ETHABRLENIES  BBSIALE
BRI 3 ZG([ERPI R #T) - FIREBAREEAOLE
HE  HERE  ANBRFETEFLER  UHE
MIRAVER ©

e LmRAMECQZIRE  HERERREFER
T B AN F $R B (R ey T 3%

BFEERER
EEEMIASEAMETARREEAESE LR
BRES - ROEBANSERIERER  BRA
EE 2 X5 REBRERNERIERAET - 185
BIREEBUETHENTER LR  RAESR
2B o

EEEEDm
RESEEZERERQT
EY

PR &8

EE ZE-REF=A=+xH

RESEZRERDAE / F3k 2024 63



Independent Auditor’s Report
B A AR

EY:

To the shareholders of Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “"Group”) set out on pages 69 to 148, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Haas. TUREEE A —
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BB HRE (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Key audit matter
BEETEE

BRETEHR

MREAFRSRERMANEXHE - KRB A SR
BUBBRRNBARREZNSEIR - GLFREEY
FERBRRBEBETEALRERINE R TET
REN  HATHELEREHEBNER - MY
TRE-—FRERTRUAEEOEREAL RS

BIPEREIT T AMSE [ HHE BT 47 A
FENEE | BOBRNEE  BERELARER
SHRABNEE - HEM - RPINBFS TIEREAT
REHFTENEE M BRI EARERER MR HE
FHER c RPIMITERAEFNER  BRES TS
EFHITHIIER - REMNGA M RREBERE
AAE R T ER o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNAEERARENSE

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 EW AR E

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade receivables
of approximately HK$144,746,000 before deducting loss
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$2,850,000.
RZBEZMF+ZA=+—H  BESEZEZERFIELED
144,746,000 % 7T (FIRR R E B 18 B 5 40 2,850,000 8 TTAT) ©

Significant management judgements, estimations and
assumptions are required in determining the expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) of the trade receivables, with reference to the
groupings of various customer segments, ageing profile of the
trade receivables, historical loss experience, past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
ETEZRERENEREEBE(FEHEEEE]D RBAEED
EREEEAE B RER - K2EZEPH»HH,E - BS
FEUFIRRRER BN - R EIRLER - BEEIE - BARERRLE
EARLTEAR

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the balance
and the significant judgements and estimates required in
assessing ECLs of trade receivables.

MU EE T ENERERRTHE ZRYGIEN ARG
SEEREERAE KM -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R BN R A M RAME3I 18-

We evaluated management'’s impairment assessment
of trade receivables and our key procedures included,
amongst others, (i) obtaining an understanding
and assessing the Group’s policy and approach
to determine the loss allowance for impairment,
including an evaluation of management’s relevant
judgements and estimates based on available
historical and forward-looking information; and
(i) examining, on a sample basis, management’s
calculations and assumptions used to determine
the ECLs through testing of certain underlying
information generated by the Group’s financial
reporting system and assessing the repayment history
of certain debtors as well as applicable forward-
looking factors with reference to related publicly
available information. We also assessed the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

B EREHE SRR RER G - mE
ERRFA(EFBE))THENE EREETR
BEEEREHNER R ZE - SEREBFEL RA
W2 BRL R B IR FE B0 AR R 2T R k5t © R (i) il
EEERERANECHENEEEBRNTERER -
FERAR BEXREMBRERSEXRNE THEH
BRRAEE TEBABRNELIAREL2ZEEB R
BAFERRBEAREERER - RPN EEGRE N
EHRKR 2 FERAHEE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B HRE ()

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

TSR FERERNEMESR

BERRBEFAHHEMEREAR - HUESRETER
FEHREANGEE  BIRREERAMBHREEEM
REERE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BB HRE (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

BB B RSB RREABNEM
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Haas. TUREEE A —

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B HRE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEmER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HE_—ZE_NFE+_HA=+—HI-FE

2024
—E-HE
Notes HK$'000
Bt FHT
REVENUE g 5 579,537
Cost of sales SHER AR (433,347)
Gross profit EF 146,190
Other income and gains E A A R as 5 31,073
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (20,210)
General and administrative expenses  —f& &{TE R (80,709)
Other expenses HEMAx (EX:L))
Finance costs BB R AR 7 (1,581)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR%E A& F 6 70,854
Income tax expense FriS®if X 10 (10,544)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR RRAREE AEEFEREFR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY
EARNINGS PER SHARE ARAREBESRFEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY AL SR BT
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY 12
Basic and diluted HAR R #E HK25.1 cents AL

2023
—E o=

HK$'000
TAT

629,430

(462,360)

167,070
21,897
(20,298)
(77,085)

(1,728)
(568)

89,288

(14,205)

75,083

HK31.3 cents &1l
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE_—Z_—p#E+_-H=+—HIFFE

2024

—E_MF

HK$'000

FHT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERER 60,310
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hih2mHEE

Other comprehensive loss that
may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Other comprehensive loss that
will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Change in fair value of a financial

RERBAE A GEEH DB EBEDN
Hitb 2 EHE -

BEBIINRBHEN =5

RERBEB BN BEEREN
Hip 2 EEE

WA ER AR M2 W

asset at fair value through M EENN T EZES
other comprehensive income
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FRHEMEZEER
FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AAREEAEGRFEAZE
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO gt

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

48,581
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2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

75,083

(9,000)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R

37 December 2024 —ZE—PFE+—-H=+—H

2024
—BonE
Notes HK$°000
B =E F#ET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R MR 13 276,700
Investment properties REME 14 22,062
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 15(a) 5,788
Deposits for purchases of items BEYE  BEREEEED
of property, plant and equipment e 19 10,935
Deposits ®E 19 188
Deferred tax assets BEER I E E 24 9,445
Financial asset at fair value through BT EFAHA
other comprehensive income PEWRNMBEEE 16 3,726
Total non-current assets EMENEELE 328,844
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories e 17 68,356
Trade and bills receivables B IR R EREE 18 158,975
Prepayments, deposits and other TERIE - ke &k
receivables HAth fE IR 19 9,926
Tax recoverable BIEERE 343
Pledged deposits BTN 20 24,030
Cash and cash equivalents BHERESEEY 20 533,295
Total current assets MBEELE 794,925
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables g SN FIR 21 82,762
Other payables and accruals HithEMRIE N EER 22 78,083
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHRIRITER 23 26,996
Lease liabilities HeEaE 15(b) 1,613
Tax payable IR 18,829
Total current liabilities mEAEERE 208,283
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 586,642
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REEARBEE

CURRENT LIABILITIES

915,486

RESEZRERDAE / F3k 2024

2023
===

HK$'000
TAT

274,447
25,844
5,677

2,352
116
9,384

3,928

321,748

56,449
188,953

5,481
1,417
31,874
462,796

746,970

88,407
68,155
33,105

1,621
16,594

207,882

539,088

860,836
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BEn. T 40—
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R

31 December 2024 —ZE—PF+—-H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-{mE —E_=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FExT FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREAE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 23 32,397 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 989 569
Deposit received BEiize 22 107,990 110,350
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 24 22,260 21,766
Deferred income FEEUTA 22 6,621 7,503
Total non-current liabilities FRBAGEHEE 170,257 140,188
Net assets BEFRE 745,229 720,648
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AEGER
of the Company
Issued capital B TR AN 25 2,400 2,400
Reserves EE 27 742,829 718,248
Total equity farER 745,229 720,648
Chan Yung Chan Yan Wing
FREB BB K
Director Director
EE o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERREER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_—ZFE_—pNF+-A=1+—HI-FZE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARER AL
Fair value
reserve
of a financial
asset through Land and
Share other building Exchange
Issued premium Capital  compehensie ~ revaluation  fluctuation Reserve Retained Total
capital account reserve income reserve reserve funds* profits equity
SARMRE
Ut
BEfT o) BfEE  DHREF i3}

&% aE%  RARE ATEEE  BREE  RBREE  BRER  REW i
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKFO00  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
TETL TiEL TEL TR TAL TiEL T TETL TEL

At 1 January 2023 R-Z2-=£E-f-H 2,400 62,609 60,455 1,080 485 (11,773) 64,899 503,243 683,398
Profit for the year FEREH| = = - - - - = 75,083 75,083
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMZERE:
Change in fair value of a financial asset “BRATETALGZE
at fair value through other REma T EES
comprehensive income ATEEY = = = (33 = = = = (33)
Exchange differences on translation of REBNEBNERER
foreign operations = = = = = (9,000 = = (9,000)
Total comprehensive incomefloss) for the year £R2ENE/ (B1E) 28 = = = (33) = (9,000) = 75,083 66,050
Transfer from retained profits ERARBAEN = = = = = = 6,306 (6,306) =
2022 final dividend kS 31 = = = = = - - (28,800) (28,800)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=F+-f=t-H 2,400 62,609 60,455 1,047 485¢ (20,773) 71,205 543,220 720,648
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Consolidated Statement

mEEREER

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE_—Z_—p#E+_-H=+—HIFFE

Issued
capital

2R
e
HKS$'000
THT
At 1 January 2024 R=F-m%-A-A 2,400
Profit for the year EREH|
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMRZERE:
Change in fair value of a financial asset —BRATETALEEE
at fair value through other eatakipieey=-3
comprehensive income ATEEY

Exchange differences on translation of

BEBNAHNELZR

foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year /12 Eliz / (B518) 25

Transfer from retained profits ERORTER
2023 final dividend “T-CRERE
At 31 December 2024 WZE-RF+=A=+-R

74

Share
premium
account

Bt
R
HK$'000
TER

62,609

62,609

hanges in Equity

Capital
reserve

RAffE
HKS'000
TER

60,455

60,455

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises, a portion of the profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is required to be transferred to the
PRC reserve funds which are restricted as to use. These PRC entities are not
required to effect any further transfer when the amount of the PRC reserve
funds reaches 50% of their registered capital. The PRC reserve funds can be
used to make good their future losses or to increase their registered capital.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$742,829,000 (2023: HK$718,248,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Attributable to owners of the Company

Fair value
reserve

of a financial
asset through
other
comprehensive
income
FARMRE
gy
BBEE
NVERE
HK$'000
TR

1,047

ARRERAELS

Land and
building
revaluation
reserve

R
G
HK$'000

TR

485

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve

Esi
R
HK$'000

TER

(20,773)

(11,608)

(11,608)

(32,381)

e
HKS'000
TER

71,205

76,607

Retained
profits

RERA
HK$'000
TER
543,220

60,310

60,310
(5402)
(24,000)

574,128

Total
equity

L i
HK$'000
TR

720,648

60,310

(121)

(11,608)

48,581

(24,000)

745229

RBBEBINEREDRRERER - B TRIIRFEARKM

B(MREDOMBARNBSEFASRETE#HERS M
ZERBESOMAEZIRS - ETEFERESANSTELS
TEE MR 50%E - AITAEL EFRE— - $
B EHEE S R AE R RE R AT =k ArE IR MALA -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HE_—ZE_NFE+_HA=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E F#BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHMEEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B A5 A g A 70,854 89,288
Adjustments for: BRI T -
Finance costs BB AR 7 1,581 568
Bank interest income RITH B ULA 5 (19,984) (11,866)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERBEITE
equipment 6 27,450 26,794
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEERE 6 1,943 1,926
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) UL (MO Rl I & = 7]
of inventories to net realisable value 1IN E(E 6 (€1)) 820
Reversal of impairment of H W IE R EREE
trade and bills receivables B O] 6 (831) (1,041)
Fair value loss on investment KEWERNTEEE
properties 6 3,280 644
Amortisation of deferred income AT U A B 5E (1,830) (1,872)
Write-off of items of property, plant  #iE¥% - HRE R REIER
and equipment 6 232 112
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - KERZEEER
plant and equipment g 6 964
82,636 106,337
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/ () (12,822) 29,003
Decrease in trade and bills receivables 2 5 & U Zx I8 % FE Uk 22 1505 > 29,165 23,568
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,  JENNFRIE - e K& H ik
deposits and other receivables FIER A (3L An) (4,689) 3
Decrease in trade payables 2 ZENFIRRL (4,553) (14,065)
Decrease in other payables Hie B R EER
and accruals A (487) (162)
Exchange realignment TE & A% (947) (2,027)
Cash generated from operations EXEKENES 88,303 142,657
Interest received BEFE 19,984 11,866
Interest paid SXNEEEN (1,581) (568)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREEFEH (1,381) (5,520)
Overseas taxes paid EREINIE (5,089) (16,144)
Net cash flows from operating activities &4 EHENFTISIR &M E/F5E 100,236 132,291
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 EZE_—Z_—p#E+_-H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E_E —E_=4F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FHET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBHERERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant  BEBEYZ - MEKRREER

and equipment (7,955)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BENKXEEE

property, plant and equipment FriS /18 761
Deposits paid for purchases of items ~ BEEWE - MELREER

of property, plant and equipment Fr{tiEe (3,330)
Receipts of government grants WS ER R 478 B 703
Decrease/(increase) in certain time and & T 8 M RITEZOR L (3%

bank deposits pledged as security m - BEREETRITHE

for certain banking facilities and bills K fE{ 245 > K ##

payable (480)
Net cash flows used in investing KREEEFARSREFE

activities (10,301)
CASH FLOWS FROM METHRERERE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings TG IRITIE X 48,911
Repayment of bank borrowings BEEIRITEN (51,564)
Principal portion of lease payments HENZEAE IS 28(b) (1,681)
Dividend paid B E (28,800)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing @& EBNATS(BTA) B LR

activities %% (33,134)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEYEMEHE

CASH EQUIVALENTS 77,682 88,856
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERBFSEEY

beginning of year 462,796 377,555
Effect of foreign exchange rate fERFH) FHE

changes, net (7,183) (3,615)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERRERBLZEY

AT END OF YEAR 533,295 462,796
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH BREeRBESEEYLEBRIN

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e MRTTHE R 20 533,295 462,796
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
8 July 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability.
The address of the registered office of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company is located at Room 809-810,
Kwong Sang Hong Centre, 151-153 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of printed circuit boards.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company
of the Company is Million Pearl Holdings Ltd., which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

1.

RAREEESR

ARRARZZE—WOFLtANBERESHSEM
R BERRERAR - ARFIMEMREE
b HE A& Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands °
ARBIMNEZELEMBRBTAENEEETEE
151-153 R EAETTH 1 809-810 = ©

FA - ARETENERERHE DRI ERER -

ARABIRMDREBBMERSBER QA ([HER
Frl)ERET - EFRE - ARG ZEBERA
AIREEERATANEBHEBRESTMX
372 Million Pearl Holdings Ltd. ©

FEMBEAANESR
AARMERRMFBENOT :

Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/  Percentage of equity
registration and paid-up attributable to the
Name business registered capital Company Principal activities
e ERTEERE/
L SR E S BREMBRE FAREGEEEEIL TEXHR
Direct  Indirect
B &
Yan Tat Group Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$100 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
REEAREE/ 100%7T REER
BE
Jumbo Height Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
ERARAR ERABRER/ 1570 REER
BB
Vital Alliance Global Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 = 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
ZERBRRBR R ERGBRER/ (EZ REER
BB
Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
BE(BR)EXERAR BB 5,000,000 %7 RERK
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAAREEER @)

(continued)

Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/  Percentage of equity
registration and paid-up attributable to the
Name business registered capital Company Principal activities
ML BERTEERE/
8 EAES S b BREMBE FARNELEEZEIL TEXK
Direct  Indirect
B &
Yan Tat Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BENBBRAA BE 1,000,000 7T BEERIZRR
Yan Tat International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BEBRERAA B BT ERHRIERR
Yan Tat Global Company Limited Hong Kong HK$ 1 = 100 Inactive
BERFBERAT B 18T WRER
Yan Tat Printed Circuits PRC/Mainland China HK$165,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ** of printed circuit boards
BEBE(RDARRR" B/ E N 165,000,000 77T B R HE DRI EREAR
Grace Yan Tat Electronics PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100 Property holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. "#
RBEET(RINARRA" BB ARH REDE
1,000,000 7T
Yan Tat Environmental Technology PRC/Mainland China RMBA43,100,000 - 100 Property holding
(Nantong) Co., Ltd. " #
HRRERRMRARAR BB AEH RENE
43,100,0007T
Yan Tat Technology Sdn Bhd Malaysia MYR5,000 - 100 Investment holding
BARAS SRARLHE REER
5,0007T
Notes: B e
Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. RIEREAETMAIEBERE -
Registered as a limited liability company under PRC law. REREEEIMABRAR -
& The English names of these companies represent the best effort y REARNRXEBIARREREREAB HEES

BHEETABAE - EAKE DAL EEREFERK
X4«

made by management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as these companies did not register any official
English names.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for a financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income and investment
properties which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
right results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

()  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

=g

R
mRERE

ZEVBHRRDBRERESAMAS(FES
SRR E ) BHOEEF B RS ER(F B
BHEEL ) (BEAEREMHEREERL - &
BEHE(THEEGTER ) RRE)AREE
RANEHIH TR EMARE

B—BEREAVFEFARMEARENTHEE
RFEBEYEARFEFTEI - BHRETIREE
SLRAE B - BRAR BRI - ZFHHREINA
ABRT(EBTD2Y MAEREINEERE
PEYTAL -

REE%E

fRa P BRERBREAR R RENE QR (G A
SEDBE_Z_NF+_A=t—HILEFE
ZATEEE - MBA B AR R B R A EES
MER(BREBILEER) - EAKBEH2EKRE
HREBWFSRIRAERBIZHRFUKL
EERHREHRITENEN (A KEER T
BARNNIBREH BB EIFHEN)
FEZFLWE - NEUSEHIE -

—RBRAR D IR RIEE LI HIE o AR R
BIRBEHRARS BB ROENSBLER -
AARERTHERTHEHRELRNEN
HeZE—RBEEERER 8

@ HEEEHREMEREFEANGOLE:
(b) HADTHELNEN Rk

(@ ZAEBNREENBERSEE -
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2.1

2.2

80

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

2.1

2.2

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

22 EBERBEEZEEH W)

KRETEBVBRSENNME R BN
T

@ BEUBMEENE165E(EFTA)FTA
B — AEARMEEREORZHE
EMHERERMRBORE  NERE
7T AREANEREERENEAES
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2.2

2.3

82

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(0 Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments
did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become
effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the

and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKAS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’!

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
Standards and HKAS 72
— Volume 11

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Illiiillik"!!IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII'r”“"lIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII
~ A
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one
of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in
a single note and introduces enhanced requirements
on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and
the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously
included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of
Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS
33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application
is required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other
HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period,
an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate
or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is
a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS
19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.
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2.3

84

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise
a financial liability that is settled through an electronic
payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with
environmental, social and governance and other similar
contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-
recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to
opening retained profits (or other component of equity)
at the initial application date. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without
the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use” requirements for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for a
hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in-
scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to
understand the effects of these contracts have on an
entity’s financial performance and future cash flows.
The amendments relating to the own-use exception
shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without
the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to the
hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of
initial application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied at
the same time. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact
of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

86

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14
and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used
in other standards. In addition, the amendments
clarify that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does
it create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain
or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph
5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to
remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example
of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with "at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETHE

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and
an equity investment at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

88

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, investment properties, and deferred tax assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(if)
(iif)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

24 EXREFBE®)

BB
AT AL AR A AR SR B R

@ MRATALTHEIR mzBAL

() B REHIAEE
(i) BAKEEEATEN X

(i) RAEEXRAEERGRARNTIEE
EEKE

Sg’

(b) MRTE TIMEREAHERE :

p=103

DX
{3
2t
bid

(i) EBR—£EHKE

el

(i) ERAZBER(EZ—EBNER
A B AR KR RNME A R) /0B

ERARABLE

(i) HERRARMAR-FZ=H0AE
BO¥

vy =&

v) ZERBRASEREAEEEHE
MEEMESMNERIOBRILE
FEHE

(vi) ZERAQEMIATEHNRLR
(i) @MEFMIALTHZERBABEX

FENIAZER (AZEBNER

AMEEEEEKRE &

(vii) ZERIEBK MO NEENE
ARERARMARESAKEG R
AIRMEEERABRY

RESEZRERDAE / F3k 2024 89




Haas. TUREEE A —

Notes to Financial Statements

BT RS R MY AL

31 December 2024 —ZFE—piF+_—_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

90

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

2.2% to 4%
33'5%

9% to 18%
9% to 33'3%
30% to 33'5%

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAEFBR (&)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

92

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAETHER (%)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
term and is included in other income in the statement of
profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as other income
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued) RERHEMBMEEE (B)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued) NTHRIARTE (BE)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of
the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAEFBR (&)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

RIEBIAVBEEE
—EMBEE(K(WER) —HM B EENFS
DR ERBRPBEENT D) TBEUATER
WAL L RER (B B AR E AR A M BN RS 5
B)

e WREEDSRLBENENDER : X

s AKBECDEBEAUEENSRERENRE
MER— @ [E ] R TAERRE
MREREEMAE =TT MNER - B
TRAERER  R@QAKREEHEZE
EMBRE D B & E R - 5 (b) NEBEE
BEERNEREZEENBRI D ER K
O - BEEBZEENEGIE -

MASECEREREERFRERENETN
KA VENRH HFGAERBEERAR
MR K R - ARBEEE o ML EEERA
BREEENBAI D RRER TR - FESBE
EMEDIE - AIARERESE2 RIEERERE
REEBEE - EZIBAT - ARETER A
HEET - WEBEERBBER TIRIERERA
SECRENENERBHERE -

NEEEREEFLERZEALETZHES
B RATMERREENE - ZEEZRER
ERASEARRZRERE -

RESEZRERDAE / F3k 2024 95



Notes to Financial Statements

BT RS R MY AL

31 December 2024 —ZFE—piF+_—_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

96

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 120 days past
due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAETHER (&)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 120 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default
based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group'’s credit risk control practices and the
historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90 days
past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 ~—  Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAEFBR (&)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Income tax (continued) 8% (&)

100

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

3 when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAETHER (&)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

Revenue from the sale of printed circuit boards is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
printed circuit boards.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting
period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue,
about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting
period, it will assess whether the information affects the
amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The
Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial
statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to
those conditions in light of the new information. For non-
adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group
will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-
adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects,
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if
applicable.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 BEAETHER (&)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non- monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate
to those prevailing at the dates of transactions. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Determination of functional currency

In determining the functional currency of each entity of the
Group, judgement is required to determine and consider
the currency that mainly influences sales prices of goods;
the currency that mainly influences costs of providing
goods; the currency in which funds from financing
activities are generated; and the currency in which receipts
from operating activities are usually retained, etc. The
functional currency of each entity is determined based
on management’s assessment of the primary economic
environment in which the entities operate. When the
indicators are mixed and the functional currency is not
obvious, management uses its judgement to determine
the functional currency that most faithfully represents the
economic effects of the underlying transactions, events
and conditions.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Measurement of an unlisted equity investment at fair
value

The fair value of an unlisted equity investment that is not
traded in an active market is estimated by management
with reference to valuation performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer by using valuation
technique that requires various sources of information
and assumptions. The carrying amount of the Group’s
unlisted equity investment at 31 December 2024 was
HK$3,726,000 (2023: HK$3,928,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@)  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences; and

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices.

The carrying amount of investment properties at
31 December 2024 was HK$22,062,000 (2023:
HK$25,844,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement are given in
note 14 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amount
of inventories to determine whether any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value is required after
considering, inter alia, the ageing analysis of the Group’s
inventories, current market conditions and the expected
future sales of goods and usage of materials. Write-
down of inventories will be made when the estimated net
realisable values of inventories decline below their carrying
amounts. Net realisable values of inventories are based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal. These estimates are
made with reference to the current market conditions
and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. Actual selling prices and
saleability/usage of goods/materials might be different
from estimations and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in the estimations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade and bills receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. EESTTHERMGET®

AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued) EEIR N PSESE )

Deferred tax liabilities ELEHREBEAE

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding AN & [ 7 AR B A b BT A 2 9 o TR R BT A
tax in respect of certain unremitted earnings of certain ATRELENBFEEANTENR - EFR /06
subsidiaries of the Group established in Mainland China &R A] R 2R 5 Ik 5% 55 22 8 48 B 5 A B IE
to the extent that the directors are of the opinion that BEETER BEMHERANELERIESES
it would be probable for distribution in the foreseeable B BREAFELDERAE - EZFHBERNE
future. Significant management judgement is required to & BTSRRI 24

determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that should

be recognised. Further details are contained in note 24 to

the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax assets BEERIEEE

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses FERIEEET A SE AT IEEERER - fiiER
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will AT B FEER T M P T TR R (58 AR DA R 8 © 7
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. RECHEEETEPREEEBHELERBIE L
Recognition of deferred tax assets primarily involves B8 2 FERRTm M) HU BT R (51 © 8 PR R
management judgement and estimations regarding RIETIIR & B ©F8 i Z IR IR R R E R B % Y
the taxable profits of the entities in which the losses R BEEE AR RE ) oK S RIRRBIA AT 2150
arose. Significant management judgement is required to EHEXREIRE LI -

determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be

recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future

taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REHSPER

The Group focused primarily on the manufacture and
sale of printed circuit boards during the year. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the Group'’s resources are integrated and
no discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no operating segment information
is presented.

AEERFRAETETINEBERHE ENRIERK
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFBER )
(continued)
Geographical information HEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REMBEFHWE
2024 2023
—E-ME —T_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Mainland China ==Y5ilrapii] 246,912 282,805
Europe BOM 104,016 136,485
Hong Kong B8 8,238 3,620
North America JEZ=M 55,805 54,321
Asia (except Mainland China and M (N EER BN R EE)
Hong Kong) 164,196 149,465
Africa FEM 200 2,710
Oceania AAEM 170 =
South America & M - 24
Total revenue Fallgas 579,537 629,430
The revenue information above is based on the L ER T ER NETENE T
locations of the customers who placed the orders. i o
(b) Non-current assets (b) FEARBEE
2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong B8 3,895 4,235
Mainland China B A 3D 300,655 304,201
Total non-current assets EmBEELE 304,550 308,436
The non-current asset information above is based LHIERBEEBR NEREEMEMSE
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial P BTEEeRMTAMELERBEE -
instruments and deferred tax assets.
Information about major customers ERETEEZEEHNER
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for RKEAZTEREMRZE (HAREEKZE 10% 34
10% or more of the Group’s revenue is set out below: B)&EmmT :
2024 2023
—E-_UFE —E-=F
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A ZEA 122,879 146,514
Customer B ZFB 76,764 102,934
108 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 5. W= - Htt AR W&
Revenue from contracts with customers REFEFEH2WE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information — timing (i) 2HFVWHER —EBEYHERE

of transfer of goods
The Group'’s timing of transfer of goods in respect of
its entire revenue is at a point in time.

(ii) Performance obligations (i)
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of printed circuit boards

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the printed circuit boards and payment is generally
due within 30 to 90 days from delivery.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as W zs
follows:

REER WA EYEBE R RRE
BIE

BiTEE
AR AEERITEEINERRNT

HHEEIf| B LR
BATEER R ENRIE R ARIZZR - AT
FORE B RXTHEFF30E 90 HAEH] -

AR EASTEINT

2024 2023
Lk I ——

HK$"000 HK$'000

FTERT TAT

579,537 629,430

19,984 11,866
509 568
2,081 2,037
3,964 4,566
95 65

26,633 19,102

Revenue from contracts with REEFEFEHzZWE
customers
Sale of goods HEEm
Other income Hgug A
Bank interest income HRITH BEWA
Rental income A2 UWA
Government grants” ERAT R EL "
Income linked to recycling B AR RE R A
Others Hith
Gains g
Foreign exchange gains, net B 3 e SRR

4,440 2,795

31,073 21,897

The government grants recognised during the year mainly
represented grants received from certain government authorities
of the PRC in recognition of the Group's efforts in environmental
awareness and protection and technological development. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants
recognised during the year.

FREEROBUTHREZEE IR B H TETEK
FFERFIEE AL - URGAEEERFEEARRER
BMBERENENSE N - BEAHEZSHNRENIE
HHHARBENF AR
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. PBRBIADER
The Group'’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBMPBRBEALEFE IR (GTA) -
(crediting):

2024 2023
— = [0 S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=2 FExT FET
Cost of inventories sold"® BEFERAe 433,347 462,360
Auditor's remuneration 1% EREH N & 2,247 2,225

Depreciation of property, plant and

110

equipment 13 27,450 26,794
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 15(a) 1,943 1,926
Employee benefit expense® (including EERANAZ(BIEEE

directors’ and chief executive’s REGFSHESEREE

remuneration as disclosed in note 8): TTBABEE)

Wages, salaries, allowances, bonuses, I8 e 28 1240

commission and benefits in kind HekEYET 86,179 84,455

Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIER

(defined contribution schemes)** (FEREM TR >+ 237 217

Other employee benefits Hitng 817 8,760 6,153

95,176 90,825

Research and development costs** e R B R A # 8,712 6,755
Write-off of items of property, plant Y - BB &EREIEE

and equipment 85 13 232 112
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of WORL (MU E) FEE

inventories to net realisable value® A IR EE " (59) 820
Fair value loss on investment BREYENTEBE"

properties* 3,280 644
Reversal of impairment of B 5 W FIE R ERERE

trade and bills receivables B ] 18 (831) (1,041)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BE K&HE

plant and equipment* HE 2 EE = 964
Foreign exchange differences, net* ME 2 RR SRR (4,440) (2,795)

*

##

* %
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These gains are included in “Other income and gains” and the
losses are included in “General and administrative expenses”, as
appropriate, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The gain is included in “Other income and gains” and the loss is
included in “Other expenses”, as appropriate, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Employee benefit expense of HK$49,640,000 (2023:
HK$42,244,000) is included in “Cost of inventories sold” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in “Cost
of inventories sold” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Research and development costs are included in “General and
administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 31
December 2024, the Group had no forfeited contributions available
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years
(2023: Nil).

##

*k
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. ®ERAX
2024 2023
—E-_UF =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FET
Interest on: AR EIERFE :
Bank loans RITER 1,497 473
Lease liabilities HEaE 84 95
1,581 568
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. EERFETHAEHMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the RIEERFTES EMBRA( EMRAD - FER
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the AEFIEE383(1)a) * (b) * (QRMEREBRE (H
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing BESNREROIFE _HRENEEESR
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong TETHRAEEHMEY WO -

Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-INEF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Fees EZH 2,327 2,327
Other emoluments: E A -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBEREWER 5,692 5,252
Commission e 3,824 4,936
Pension scheme contributions RIKEET M 18 18
9,534 10,206
11,861 12,533
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FARNBYIRTEE2ERAT :
during the year were as follows:
2024 2023
—EComEF —T_=f
HKS'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming E KBRS E 221 221
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu Ef S8 5 & 221 221
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 22 5 & 221 221
663 663
There were no other emoluments payable to the FAMERNBILIERITES 2 H b E7 BN
independent non-executive directors during the year (ZZE—=F :4)-

(2023: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERTETHAEFMH
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) HTESE - FHFTEEREETHA
director and the chief executive 8

Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind Commission contributions remuneration

e BER EiRE
- {ii ENRIR s HEE3 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TART TERT TR

2024 —RoRE
Executive directors: HOTEE
Mr. Chan Wing Yin* BREB A&+
Mrs. Chan Yung REzL
Mr. Chan Yan Wing* BREKEE!

Non-executive director: FHITES
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong RREXEAE

2023 —EC-=E
Executive directors: WITEE:
Mr. Chan Wing Yin* BRESB LA+ 611 1,570 - - 2,181
Mrs. Chan Yung REXL+ 611 1,177 = = 1,788
Mr. Chan Yan Wing* BREKELAE! 221 2,172 4,936 18 7,347
1,443 4,919 4,936 18 11,316
Non-executive director: FRTES:
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong BRELEAE 221 333 - = 554
1,664 5,252 4,936 18 11,870
& Mr. Chan Wing Yin resigned as an executive director of the S REBLELECEHIARRRITES  WHR=F
Company with effect from 1 January 2025. —RF—A—HAER-
i Mr. Chan Yan Wing is also the chief executive officer of the " REKEETRAARATHRER
Company.
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and HE_Z_NEFR_ZT_=F+_AH
2023, no remunerations were paid by the Group to =+—HLFE AKBEVEREFNES
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon YEE - EAEMARERERFE M
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of AREBENMS S ERREBAIAMEE -
office.
There was no arrangement under which a director FAREZHBEEENFEITHRAER
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any ERRENREAMHFHN T ==F : &) -

remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).
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=g

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2023: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor the chief executive of the Company are as follows:

hEREFHES

FANRAEEeFMNEERE=&G(ZT=_=4F:
“H)EE HFEFBRN EXHES e 8T
ME(ZE==F: MA) ZaaES (BEIEXR
RAREEMIEETETRAE) RERNFIMNES
ESUR NN

2024 2023
—ZT-mEF —F-=F
HK$"000

HK$'000
TAT

e loRRh
RIKEEBIHR

Salaries and allowances
Pension scheme contributions

3,357
36

3,393

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

FHERATHENZSHMER CFEFRIE
ERITHBAR) ABHEHINOT

Number of employees
EE®E
2024 2023
—E-WE —=

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

£ % 1,000,000 7T

1,000,001 8722 1,500,000 % 7T
1,500,001 8 7T 2,000,000 % 7T
2,000,001 87T % 2,500,000 78 7T

The non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees are also members of senior management of the
Group. During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no remunerations were paid by the Group to any
of these highest paid non-director or non-chief executive
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.

FEENFIZTRABNRSHFHES A
AEEERERENKE BE_T_MNFR=
E=F+-A=+—HILFE  FEELER
TAZEERSFMIEESIFERTRABA
TXNE - (ERENMAREENFELIMAR
SEROMESHIERREBMAOFEE -
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10.

114

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

The provision for land appreciation tax has been estimated
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC laws and regulations. Land appreciation tax has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable deductions.

All subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC
are subject to PRC corporate income tax at a standard
rate of 25% (2023: 25%) during the year, except for a
subsidiary of the Group which qualified as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in Mainland China and a lower PRC
corporate income tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%) has been
applied for the year.

10. FRiE%

EBNBRIIRFEARNREBELENGERS
A 16.5% (ZE =4 : 16.5%) 51154 -
WEAREEHN—FEHBRAGIKIN ZARAFA
MBFNFEHREGENEE - ZHWB AR E
£ 2,000,000 75 (=2 = =4 : 2,000,000/ 7T)
) JE 2 70 i F128.25% (—Z T — =4 : 8.25%)
TR AR - HRERTEF AR 165% (==
Z=F 0 165%) BT REE o H b= A FERR
RAEF BB RIBEANE B L EEaAERD
WITRHERGTE -

TR EN 2 BE D IR AR B kAR B
] EER M - DHBETIIEEEERR
BT AR BRR - WEERE 2\
e

FER - AEBERF B HATE KB A G AR
25% (ZZE = =1F : 25%) MIZEF RG22
SR - EAEE MK BAEREAND
HFAEBHEMMEENER  RERIESEASE
DERBHEI15% (ZE-=4F : 15%) 8F -

2024 2023
—E-mE B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current — Hong Kong BIER — &%

Charge for the year FAZH 2,709 2,947

Current — Mainland China BNHER — AR A
Charge for the year FAZH 7,473 8,839
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR = 262
Deferred (note 24) IRAE (PBF5E24) 362 2,157
Total tax charge for the year FRFIES H4R5E 10,544 14,205
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10. AR (&)
BAARREFEIEMBAO AT B L £
REBE TR R EEBRB B AR F B
TERE BB R ERIERHEE - 0T

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for Hong Kong in which
the principal place of business of the Company and certain
of its major subsidiaries are located, to the tax charge at

the effective tax is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Profit before tax B B¢ A g A 70,854 89,288
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax BREBEEME16.5%

rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZZE=_=% :165%)

AEHA 11,691 14,733

Effect of different tax rates for PEETEEN TR R

specific entities in the PRC S (932) (1,100)
Adjustment in respect of current FhBT M S AN IE A R

tax of previous periods - 262
Income not subject to tax AR WA (944) (622)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 X 2,524 1,660
Effect of withholding tax at 5% o B8 B B X ] 3 AT 0 g A

on the distributable profits of 2HR 5% KT KBTI

a PRC subsidiary EENFE 1,850 2,493
Additional deduction for research i 3E M B R AR AN BB ANORL

and development costs (2,586) (2,630)
Others Hh (1,059) (591)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate I AEEERH R ERTHIAE 10,544 14,205

BRE
EEeRBBRRE_T_ME+-_A=+—
AEFEMRAREERERERKR6OEBIW(=ZF
Z = 10.0%1l) - BFEAEE R 14,400,000 8
T (ZZF = =4 : 24,000,000 ) °

11. DIVIDEND 1.

The Board recommended to declare a final dividend of
HK6.0 cents (2023: HK10.0 cents) per ordinary share,
equivalent to a total amount of HK$14,400,000 (2023:
HK$24,000,000), for the year ended 31 December 2024.

REEMEZFRAKREAFARBDBRRRER

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
REBERE L& - FAMEE -

the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

13.

116

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company is based on the profit for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$60,310,000
(2023: HK$75,083,000) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 240,000,000 (2023: 240,000,000)
outstanding during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as the Group had
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during

12. ARARAEEREHFAARGERER

FRANBIEBESFE ARG ZERERRF
SRDBREA R BESFE ARG TR F
60,310,000 ( = ZE = =4 : 75,083,000 7T)
RS B 217X 58 A N4 45 21 240,000,000
A% (ZZT = =4 : 240,000,000 J&) s+ & -

AR AREREE_T_MER_T_=F+—
A=+ BLFEYEAECEIRE LD E
TEER  HIEREEEEEZEFREESZ
BREABNGEELRHE -

these years.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

landand  Construction
buildings ~ in progress
T REF EEIR
HK$000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn

At 1 January 2024: R-E-mE-A-A:
Cost BR 223,805 32,005
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (71,137) -
Net carrying amount REFE 152,668 32,005

At 1 January 2024, net of RZEZRE-A-H"

accumulated depreciation Bk EiHE 152,668 32,005
Additions AE 1,439 44
Transfers g2y (221)

EVERENE BER

Transfer from deposits for

purchases of property, plant REEAMES
and equipment
Write-off i
Depreciation provided during ~~ EAFTERE
the year (8,558)
Exchange realignment A% (3,155)
At 31 December 2024, net of R-B-ME
accumulated depreciation T-A=+-8/
EAREHITE 142,394 31,146
At 31 December 2024: RZZZRE
tzA=t+-8:
Cost K 220,436 31,146
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (78,082) =
Net carrying amount REFE 142,394 31,146

improvements

13. Y% BERRE

Plant and
machinery

Leasehold

BE%E  HRREH
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T

263,547

(183,743)

79,804

79,804
25,960

- 7,033
- (226)

(1,553) (15,974)
(94) (2.310)

94,281

26,555 288,250
(22,163) (193,963)

4392 94,287
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Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
&R Ee
RERRRE
HKS'000
TER

26,928
(24,528)

2,400

Motor
vehicles

g
HK$'000
T

8,855
(5,861)

2,99

8,840
(6,759)

2,081

580,853
(306,406)

214,447

214,447
29,215

7,033
(232)

(27,450)
(6,313)

276,700

602,155
(325,455)

276,700
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1% - BERRE )

(continued)

Furniture,
landand  Construction Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
buildings inprogress  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
A EE
THHRET fRIR HEZE  HRRES  KERRE & @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TEL
At 1 January 2023: WZBZ=%f-f-R:
Cost KR 220,388 32,356 24,087 271,479 27,363 7461 583,134
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (59,941) = (20,116) (178,503) (24175) (7132 (289,867)
Net carrying amount BEFE 160,447 32,356 3971 92,976 318 329 293,267
At 1 January 2023, net of WZE-=%-f-R"
accumulated depreciation EMREHTE 160,447 323% 3971 92,976 3,188 329 293,267
Additions NE - 244 1,577 4128 180 3,061 9,190
Transfers 1 - (131) 131 - - - -
Transfer from deposits for ERERENE BER
purchases of property, plant B
and equipment - - - 1,634 - - 1,634
Disposals e - - - (1,571) = (154) (1,725)
Write-off bk () - - (46) Q) (60) (112)
Depreciation provided during AT ERME
the year (8,814) - (1,231) (15,838) (740) (an (26,794)
Exchange realignment B A% 2233 (464) 60) (1479) (39) (1) (4,286)
Redlassification from assets miEELE EEEN
held for sale 28 3273 - - - - - 3273
At 31 December 2023, net of R-E-=F
accumulated depreciation +-A=+-8-
BAKEHAE 152,668 32,005 4,388 79,804 2,588 2,994 274,447
At 31 December 2023: W-E-=F
tZA=+-8:
Cost A 223,805 32,005 25453 263,547 27,188 8,855 580,853
Accumulated depreciation ZAME (71,137) - (21,065) (183,743) (24,600) (5,861) (306,406)
Net carrying amount BEFE 152,668 32,005 4,388 79,804 2,588 2,994 274,447
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REWHE

2024 2023
—E_UE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BRERAEE 25,844 26,868

Net loss from a fair value NHERABRBETSE
adjustment (note 6) (MF5E6) (3,280) (644)
Exchange realignment b (502) (380)
Carrying amount at 31 December RTZA=+—HB&EKEE 22,062 25,844

118

The Group’s investment properties consist of residential
properties and a commercial property in the PRC.

The Group's investment properties were revalued on
31 December 2024 based on valuations performed by
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at HK$22,062,000 (2023:
HK$25,844,000). Each year, the Group’s chief financial
officer decides, after approval from the directors, to
appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the
external valuations of the Group's investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards
are maintained. The Group’s chief financial officer has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results twice a year when the valuations are
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

The investment properties consisting of a commercial
property and residential properties are leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details of
which are included in note 15 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, an investment property of the
Group with a carrying amount of HK$4,006,000 (2023:
HK$5,804,000) was pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 23).
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AEENRENERETENEENER &
ERYE -

REBRREMER S _NEFE+-_A=+—H
RIZHBLEES AR ERM A=A RTE
AR A RIITZEE22,062,0008 T (ZE=-=
% 125,844,000/ 870) EFHE - SFLEEN
% - NEBP B BESRTEINE G ER A
B EAREBREMENINBHBEIIE - BE%E
RIBEmsAR 28 BUMREERFAEE
KB BEFEATHHRFEYIEHRE OB
THER  AEEUBAEemEERSR MEE
BHEREGHERMIET®

H—EEAYEREEMEEARNREYWER
CEMOBTE=H  E—FRRFBCHAY
TEIRRMIFE15 ©

R-ZFE-WMF+-A=+—8 A£EEEEE
4,006,000 7T( —ZE = =4 : 5,804,000 7T)
2 EREMECIRIFEAREFER —KIR
TERZEREIE23) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REWE(®E)
Fair value hierarchy AEEEBR
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TERHFAREEREMENATEFEBR

hierarchy of the Group'’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement using

ERATHABBNAVERE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
RERT S EXTHE EAFTTHE
HE 0AHE WAHE

(Level 1) (Level 2) ()] Total
(F—%) (E=#R) =) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TET
Recurring fair value FATEIERE R
measurement for: NEEFTE
At 31 December 2024 RZTZF
+-A=+—H
Commercial property [ElEEIES 4,006 4,006
Residential properties FEmE 18,056 18,056
22,062 22,062
At 31 December 2023 R-ZT-_=F
+-A=+—H
Commercial property ElEEES - - 5,804 5,804
Residential properties FEmE - - 20,040 20,040
_ - 25,844 25,844
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FRN - BE-REE_RoAREZEANTESE
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no MER  F=RTEEARERH(ZE=_=F:
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil). ) o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REWE 5
Fair value hierarchy (continued) A ERBH(E)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised SHEEATEERTE=FNHAFEFT=MNEH

within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: % -

Commercial Residential
property properties
mAYE EEME

HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 RZE—=F—A—HAMEAA 6,034 20,834
Net loss from a fair value REZEP RO AT EFE
adjustment recognised in profit or loss B8 F R (145) (499)
Exchange realignment PE 5 8% (85) (295)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 WR-ZE-—=F+—-A=+—HK
and 1 January 2024 —E-OMFE—-HA—AMEARE 5,804 20,040
Net loss from a fair value RIBRPERN AT ERE
adjustment recognised in profit or loss E5 18558 (1,700) (1,580)
Exchange realignment Ik (98) (404)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 R-Z_ME+_-_A=+—HK
fRmE{E 4,006 18,056

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used

AT RRENEHEMANGERMREZ2E

120

and the key inputs to the valuation of the investment ASEHNHE -
properties:
Significant
Investment properties Fair value Valuation unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy technique input Range
AEBEEN EATAHE
RENF AVEER  AERW BAHE &E
2024 2023
“EoNE —E-=F
Commercial property Level 3 Sales comparison Estimated price per N/A RMB24,336 to
in Mainland China method square metre RMB30,022
R Bt A YE E=R HELBE BT HARMEER TER AR¥2433671%E
AR#30,0227C
Level 3 Income capitalisation Estimated rental value RMBOI5 to N/A
method (per square metre RMB128
per month)
E= WABRE fhstA(E AEETE NEMA
(BYAAREA) ARE1287
Term yield 4.5% N/A
HE A% TER
Residential properties Level 3 Sales comparison Estimated price per RMB35,700 to RMB38,125 to
in Mainland China method square metre RMB47,083 RMB42,099
R E R FENE A HELBE BYFAMEER  ARK35700mE  ARY3812571E
ARE47,083T ARE42,0997T
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

15.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated price
per square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. The investment properties are valued using the
sales comparison method having regard to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market. The
valuations take into account the characteristics of the
properties which include the location, size, floor level, year
of completion and other factors collectively.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain properties and a
vehicle. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased lands from the owners with lease periods of
50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under
the terms of these land leases. Leases of certain properties
generally have lease terms of 2 years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

14.

15.

REWE )

DFEERE)

TR EROERREE N, ORL)
BHEREYFEN N TERBEM OFD) < ]E
MEAHELBOAGE - EhEERNEETISA
HUEBWREHERS - HESBBERMEN
EREHERLE K BE  BEREFOUK
HiH% -

HE

AEEEREEA

AKERAEETYERTENBESL - —RIE
NREENTFHRAANBRGHEE L - HH
506 - BERBRZELHHEERAEEARES
FHEMRIE - ETYEEENHERRBE RN
Feo—RME  AKRETERAAKEZIIALTHE
BEOHHEERE -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use RER > KEBHFERAEEERTENUNL
assets and the movements during the year are as FEIINT -
follows:
Leasehold
lands Properties Total
HELTH S =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TR
As at 1 January 2023 N-ZE-=%—H—H 3,804 2,525 6,329
Additions INE - 1,326 1,326
Depreciation charge WERY (234) (1,692) (1,926)
Exchange realignment I& 5 % (52) = (52)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=F+-A=1+—8xK
and 1 January 2024 —E-NFE—A—H 3,518 2,159 5,677
Additions NE - 2,127 2,127
Depreciation charge TEMY (231) (1,712) (1,943)
Exchange realignment I i R (73) = (73)
As at 31 December 2024 R-Z e
+-A=+—H 3,214 2,574 5,788
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREBEA (E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the RER - HEAENRREREZHHT :

movements during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
it Sl —T =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—H—AMREE 2,190 2,545
New leases g 2,127 1,326
Accretion of interest recognised F A ERF B
during the year 84 95
Payments (N (1,799) (1,776)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+=ZA=+—H/EAE 2,602 2,190
Analysed into: BT EBAHT -
Within one year —F R 1,613 1,621
After one year but within two years —FUEEMEUA 989 569
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBENR O MRS REM T34
note 34 to the financial statements. A
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation () FHEREZERNSTEWLT :
to leases are as follows:
2023
CENE [t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 84 95
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FREEETE L H 1,943 1,926
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A B 25 FERH) 4258 2,027 2,021
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note d BELBRSALBEERYBRRNE

28(b) to the financial statements. 28(b) ©
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of a commercial property and nine residential
properties in the PRC under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group
during the year was HK$509,000 (2023: HK$568,000),
details of which are included in note 5 to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

15. HE @)

AEBEEBEAA
AEBBECEHERERTEHBHAEREY
2= (WsE14)  BHE—EERADERNEEED
¥ c ZEHEZBER—MEKBEIMRES ©
AEERFARE RS WA A509,00078 7T
(ZZE =4 : 568,000/87C) ' BTN
TEIRERMIES ©

R-Z-ME+—_A=+—8 AEEREHEE
AEZ A AGEELAER A KRB A EUK R
BRIRFAE AT

2024 2023

—E_E —F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T
With one year —&FR 480 389
After one year but within two years —F A EMEAA 144 -
624 389

16. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

16. BAFEFAHMEZEAKRENMBEEE

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value

BE

BT EFERIE ETARE

2024 2023
—ET-mEF —Bo=F
HK$"000 HK$'000
TERT TAET
3,726 3,928

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the
Group considers the investment to be strategic in nature.

17. INVENTORIES

PRI E T AT R IR T AR A T ER A
Hit 2w - TERAKERSREB KRBT

Raw materials JE A
Work in progress M
Finished goods (D

g: °

17. BE
2023
—Eo=F
HK$'000
FHT
20,584 18,918
10,490 9,846
37,282 27,685
68,356 56,449
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 18. EFRUNREREVRERE

2024 2023

—E-E —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&T T

Trade receivables B 5 EINGIE 144,746 174,892
Bills receivable i ES 17,079 17,803
161,825 192,695

Impairment B (P2:110) (3,742)
158,975 188,953

AEEEREZEPHRSERREBRBEER - M
BEPRATFRBFRIN - REBERFAEEEK

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in

advance may be required. The Group maintains a defined
credit policy and credit periods are usually granted ranging
from one to four months from the month-end of the date
of invoice to customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit

R BEAFFPRLBHFEAHE A ARET—
EMEAMEES - AREABLHREREREK
HRFBREET  UREREEERR - afRE
EEEREzaNES AEETENEESE
WHREREEEEFEEAERZIEMEER

risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior BARLH EHEWHIBEREWNERBTEE
management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade and bills
receivables. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-

bearing.

R|EHR - EHRIGRBERBREERIEER
HE RN E IR B AR A RERDOMTEIINT

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-UFE —E=F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one month —(EAR 66,727 86,932
One to two months —Z2MEA 36,573 46,838
Two to three months ME={AA 29,394 28,692
Over three months HBiE =18 H 26,281 26,491
158,975 188,953
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EFRUNREREWRER (4

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B o RWHIERERZBENEEREZSHHD
trade and bills receivables are as follows: N

2023

ZE=F

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 January w—HA—H 4,824
Reversal of impairment loss, net (note 6) & B (B &5 18 % 58 (Mf3E6) (1,041)
Exchange realignment PE 5 S 41)

At the end of year FR 3,742

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

Less than
Current 1 month

Bl PR1EA

Expected credit loss rate  FEHR{E & &5

Bx 0.06% 0.08%
Gross carrying amount HARHEE
(HK$'000) (F#&T) 120,600 20,303
Expected credit losses TEEEEEE
(HK$'000) (F%7T) A 16

AEBERZHE A RMNARBEEELETRED
- Ut ERBEERBE - BEXHERZEA
FRUBBRANEF D HARNNBNXHE
E o At EARBNBE AR SERAES
B RMRF R ARG B R TR S IR R AR
BB -

TS B PR R AR R 5 R
ERLHEERREGEH

R-ZE-_mFE+=-A=+—H

Past due
eIk
Credit-
1to3 3to12 impaired
months months receivables
EERE
12318 3Z12fA  EWFE

0.25% 0.36% 100%

804 279 2,760

2 1 2,760
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EFRUNREREBVRERE (&)

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%5+=-A=+—H
Past due
Credit-
Less than 1t03 3t0 12 impaired
Current 1 month months months  receivables Total
EERE
BN OPER 1Z3MEA 3ZE12E8 EKEE A&
Expected credit loss rate ~ FEHIZEE
R 0.01% 0.09% 0.18% 16.67% 100% 2.14%
Gross carrying amount RERTEE
(HK$'000) (F%7T) 150,743 15,290 5,057 120 3,682 174,892
Expected credit losses TEEMEEEE
(HK$'000) (F%7T) 18 13 9 20 3,682 3,742
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. AHRE - KEREMERTER
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—EB-MEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Current BNA
Prepayments FAT IR 9,603 5,085
Deposits and other receivables Ze R EMEW T 323 396
9,926 5,481
Non-current FEBNHA
Deposits for purchases of items of BEWE  BEAREEERN
property, plant and equipments e 10,935 2,352
Deposits b 188 116
11,123 2,468
The financial assets included in the above balances relate it A eR P E B SR A B MR L0 R AR e FE UK
to receivables for which there was no history of default HIERMERIEEE RN NER T —=
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and FH+ZA=1+—0  BEBEEEEETHAE
2023, the loss allowance was assessed by management to K o
be minimal.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 20. RERAEEBYUREERER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2024 2023
—E-mE ZEZ=F
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
Bt & FER FET
Cash and bank balances NE RIRITES 533,295 462,796
Pledged deposits BT 24,030 31,874
557,325 494,670

Less: Yo

Pledged time and bank deposits & TIRITRE 2 2 HEA

for certain banking facilities TEH R ERTTIE K 23 (24,030) (31,874)

Cash and cash equivalents for the  F4RE B ERANETRMS 2

purpose of the consolidated HehIREeEFEY

statement of financial position 533,295 462,796
At 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances RIZBE-_MF+-A=+—8 "EBRARE
and pledged deposits of the Group denominated in (TARE DFHERIR & MIRTTE A KR B IR 1F
Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to HK$13,020,000 (2023: 413,020,000 7T (—F = =4 : 80,646,000
HK$80,646,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into BIL) c ARBEINSERERASHMER - R
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s R B 2 INE BRI DA K2 45 TR - ETE K&+
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration EERRT  AEBCBEN S BEREETIN
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange EEG 2 RITHAREHBRBEMEY -

Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates ETIRITBSETHRITTRF R EREUZE)F)
based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and RFE - RITER L EREFEREFTEAEERY
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks Ko 30 HAGR A0 RCEREVERTT -

with no recent history of default.
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21. TRADE PAYABLES 21. ESENSFNIE

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end RIEER - B S EMNRIBRIEE R A AR RE

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as SITEIIAT

follows:

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET

Within three months =@AR 65,883 70,683

Three to six months == ~EA 9,453 13,315

Over six months HiEs & A 7,426 4,409

82,762 88,407

The trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing B S RENZIEAEER Tt EMREREZH

and are normally settled within three months from the HAZRABT=EARGH -

month-end of the date of invoice.

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. HiWENSREREFER
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Current BN EA

Other payables Hoth FE {5 FE 32,952 28,531

Accruals EETER 43,194 37,712

Deferred income” PEIEYT A 1,937 1,912

78,083 68,155

Non-current JEENHA

Contractual amount received* BUAH & EE 107,990 110,350

Deferred income” JEIEUT A 6,621 7,503

114,611 117,853

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an HEi N REATE  FHHR A=A -

average term of three months.

" Deferred income mainly represented (i) special funds of " IRIEWAE Z 1R () BB & B Rt 2aR05 K BRI R i %
HK$2,197,000 (2023: HK$2,601,000) granted by PRC government F 2B E £ 2,197,000 T (=S = =4 : 2,601,000
authorities in relation to the construction of sewage treatment BT RMNFPEBNERSAERES S TREIE
facilities; and (i) special funds of HK$421,000 (2023: HK$761,000) AR T 2 REL 4210008 T (2T =4
granted by PRC government authorities in relation to the Group's 761,000 7T) - ZBIEEW AR BEAWE  BERSE
purchase of certain machines for technology advancement. The 17 FBEAT] (P R EE BN IB S TR o

deferred income is recognised in profit or loss over the expected
useful lives of the relevant property, plant and equipment.

* Being amount received pursuant to certain conditions of the * FeRIE A e S E T IR £ 58 -
Cooperation Agreement.
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23. FFESBITHER
2023
- S -3 “ZI=F
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (p.a.) Maturity'  HK$'000 rate (p.a.) Maturity'  HK$'000
RRER = HMAT  FER AHENE SR AR

Current BV

Secured bank loans due for repayment within one year® LPR2-0.5% 2025 26,996 LPR-0.4% 2024 33,105

BR—ENERNBERRTEN LPR-05% —B-1f LPR-04% —E-—|m%

Non-current

FENE

Secured bank loan due for repayment after one year LPR>-0.4% N/A N/A -

but not exceeding two years?

AR—ERENEAMFEENABRRTE LPR-0.4% ~ NER TER

Total #5t 59,393 33,105

g Based on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the respective 1 HERBENER R BITRE EHAEETEREH
loan agreements/banking facility letters

2 The National Interbank Funding Center Loan Prime Rate (“LPR") 2 2 BRITR R EFEROBERTISREFE(TLPR])

3 Denominated in RMB 3 AARKETIE

Note: B &

(@) Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by (i) (a) AEMME TRITE RS RN ANE BT E 454,006,000
the Group's investment property with a carrying amount of BT (ZZT =4 : 5,804,000/47T) (st 14) KA
HK$4,006,000 (2023: HK$5,804,000) (note 14); and (ii) pledged 0 (i) B IR T 547 8975 20 24,030,000 7T (— =
deposits with banks amounting to HK$24,030,000 (2023: =% : 31,874,000 7T) (i 5L 20) VEHEHR

HK$31,874,000) (note 20).
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24. DEFERRED TAX 24, EEBIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during BEEHBEEEREENFTANZEHAT ¢
the year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBEEE
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
related Revaluation Withholding
depreciation of properties taxes Total
TERE
HEBERTE BEAYE FEHIBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT FHT FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-E—=%F
—H—H (10) (7,562) (18,210) (25,782)
Deferred tax credited/ RERRIEL
(charged) to profit or A (F0ER)
loss during the year B IR 2 7 18
(note 10) (K$3E10) (203) 323 (2,493) (2,373)
Released upon distribution A9 IEE 5.1%
of dividend FRER - - 6,283 6,283
Exchange realignment PE 5 - 106 - 106
At 31 December 2023 AT =4
and 1 January 2024 +—A=+—8%
—EFEF
—A—A 213) (7,133) (14,420) (21,766)
Deferred tax credited/ REANRERR
(charged) to profit or A ()
loss during the year BYIRAER I8
(note 10) (M¥sE10) 78 1,144 (1,850) (628)
Exchange realignment b H AR - 134 - 134
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZPOF
+=-—A=+—H (135) (5,855) (16,270) (22,260)
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24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

24, EEFIE (%)
EERBEE

Depreciation Provision for

=g

Provision in excess  inventories Other
for accrued of related and trade deductible
staff welfare depreciation and bills  temporary
costs allowance receivables differences Total
FERES
ZHEIREN WERBEE BERFER HUEHR
BABE WERE BREEERE =R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 i
—H—H 2,754 2,962 1,797 1,787 9,300
Deferred tax credited/  RERNIEZ
(charged) to profit or HA (%)
loss during the year BRIEHITE
(note 10) (FiFzE10) 58 324 (167) 1 216
Exchange realignment [ 3¢ 382 (40) (44) (22) (26) (132)
At 31 December 2023 RZ-ZT=-=4%
and 1 January 2024 +=-A=+—H
RZTZMF
—A—H 2,772 3,242 1,608 1,762 9,384
Deferred tax credited/  RFERMNIEZ
(charged) to profitor & A/ (30%)
loss during the year HEER IR
(note 10) GEI (30) 400 @) (100) 266
Exchange realignment [ 3¢, 38% (59) (76) (34) (36) (205)
At 31 December 2024 RZ-ZTZPUF
+-A=+—H 2,683 3,566 1,570 1,626 9,445

At 31 December 2024, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of HK$1,858,000 (2023: HK$1,742,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of a subsidiary in Hong Kong in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the tax losses as they have arisen in a
subsidiary that has been loss-making for some time and it
is currently not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

RZZE-_W+-—A=+—H "EBAERH
BB HIEER1,858,0008 (T - =%
1,742,000787T) + AIELERR BB A EIR SH EE 548
NEBHB AR Z RRERFUEF o MAKZE
HESERRECHRBEEE  RRABHEMIERE
BLHREEHE BRNEESEERBATHER
BITAAIEEA A B AR IEEEIRE Z EREE
FzZHBAR -

The Group is liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 5% for the Group.

ZERPEAMKINHBEARRL —TTNEF
—A-RREENEN DK EE - R[B!,
I - AEBERERRER5% °

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

A AR IR B AR AT B4 R -
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25.

26.

132

SHARE CAPITAL 25. BRA
Shares B 2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Authorised: JETE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 10,000,000,000 f% &% 0.01 B 7T
HK$0.01 each EOREREl 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE
240,000,000 ordinary shares of 240,000,000 f&&k%0.01 87T
HK$0.01 each B 5 AR 2,400

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital
during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
"Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme became
effective on 18 November 2014 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for ten years
from that date.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates, is required to be approved by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company
or any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within the date as specified in the offer letter issued by the
Company, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of any
option granted under the Scheme is determined by the
board of directors in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years after it has
been granted.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by
the board of directors at its absolute discretion, but may
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant; (i) the average
of the closing prices of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

26.
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26.

27.

28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are
set out in the Report of the Directors.

No share options were granted during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 and no share options under the
Scheme were outstanding as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 73
to 74 of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capital contribution
from Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung by way of
a waiver of shareholders’ loan and the difference between
the consideration and the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest acquired.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

2024

26.

27.

28.

RS 8 (5)

EERZZRER -
AAREBREASZEZHBRANRETERE ©

BT _NgFER_ZFT-_=F+-_A=+—H
LEFE - SHERHEMERE MR- Z0F
—E-=F+-A=+—8  ZtETHER
ARHE M AR TAEE o
fEfE
RAFERENFE  ~5ERFEBEREY
ﬁ

T 2HRIHERERFE 73R 74 B AR A REZ!
ﬁo

E2)
E2)

NG
EARBRBERIELCERNRBL LI BBERRK
REFETHEE R B B AT IE H SF R
SREEZ EREEE -

RERERBRME

(a) MEZTDELNEELE

—E-mEF

Interest-
bearing bank
borrowings
FTERITER
HK$'000
THT

Lease
liabilities
HEaE

HK$'000
FHET

At 1 January 2024

Changes from financing cash flows FEHR&REEZH

New leases g

Interest expense FERZ

Interest paid included in operating BIEERKLESHSRERN
cash flows EARFLE

Exchange realignment DEE 3¢, 8 B

R-ZF-WFE—H—H

33,105 2,190
27,420 (1,715)
= 2,127
= 84

(84)

At 31 December 2024

RZE-_WNF+=-_A=+—H

2,602
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 28. #RER&EREFRM T ()

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

(a) MEETDELEMNEERE (B

2023 —Eo=4F
Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
FTEIRITIE K HEBE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
At 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—HF—H 35,983 2,545
Changes from financing cash flows FI&EIRE&REEH) (2,653) (1,681)
New leases HHEE - 1,326
Interest expense BRI - 95
Interest paid included in operating ~ BEIEERKLIRESREN
cash flows B F B - (95)
Exchange realignment P& 5 (225) =
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+-A=+—A1 33,105 2,190

(b) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

(b) HEHABRSR
HERBeRHFTARSREROT ¢

L REN
BERHN

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

2024 2023
yf S T —
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHET
84 95

1,715 1,681
1,799 1,776

(c) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of HK$2,127,000 (2023: HK$1,326,000) and
HK$2,127,000 (2023: HK$1,326,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for certain
properties.

29. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 29.

Details of the Group's bank borrowings, which are secured
by certain assets of the Group, are included in note 23 to
the financial statements.
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30. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

=g

30. i
RBERR  AEEA LT AR -

T

Contracted, but not provided for:
Construction and purchases of items

of property, plant and equipment BailE

ERTXBEREE -

6,411

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) The Group had the following transactions with a
related party during the year:

31. BBARS
() AEERFEREEHIETTIRS

A related company: BB A T
Lease liabilities paid BREEEE

2024 2023
—E-E TEC=F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T T FHETT
(i) 1,799 1,776

Note:

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the rentals were charged by Yantek Electronics Company
Limited (“Yantek"), a related company of the Group, owned
as to 33% by Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 34% by Mr. Chan
Yan Wing, who are the directors of the Company, and 33%
by Ms. Chan Yan Sam, the sister of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong
and Mr. Chan Yan Wing, in accordance with the tenancy
agreements entered into between the Group and Yantek.

Interest on lease liabilities of HK$84,000 (2023: HK$95,000)
and depreciation of right-of-use assets of HK$1,712,000
(2023: HK$1,692,000) were recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2024 in respect of the lease
arrangements.

(b) Other transaction with a related party
A director of the Company received a sales
commission of HK$3,824,000 (2023: HK$4,936,000)
for his services provided to the Group during the
year based on 3%-12% (2023: 3%-12%) of the
transaction amounts.

B

(i) BE_T-_MER-_ZT_=F+-_F=+—H
LEFE BEETARAR(RE]) (KEEW
BAE N E] - FREN A - REKIELE (BSEA
AARER) RERN L+ (FRB X E4E KRB
KT RIBEIR) 5 B A 33% ~ 34% K 33% 1E
%) R RN o @ B BB AT M M TR & kIR AR
& o

HE-_T-_MF+-_A=+—BLFE B
BREEZTHMHEESEF L84,0008 T(=
T=F:950008L) RIEAREENE
1,712,000/ L(ZF = =4 : 1,692,000 7T) °

(b) EEEAEETETHNEMRS
FR AR —REFAMAEERER
BMmESHEEM$3,824,008T(F
— =4 :4,936,000/870)  €EIIRER
SEEMN3%EN% (ZBE-=F 3% %
12%)5HE °
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 31. BBARS (5

() Compensation of key management () ZAEBEXEEBEAEBNHE:
personnel of the Group:

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHT
Short term employee benefits R EEA 16,973
Post-employment benefits i3 20 i 54
Total compensation paid to ENEEEBAER
key management personnel e 16,709 17,027
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s BEEZRFTETHRAEFHMOE—TFEH
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial R HRRMIFES ©
statements.
(d) Particulars of the amount due to a related company (d) FEREE A BFRIEFBET ¢
are as follows:
2024 2023
—E_MEF =
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Lease liabilities due to a related company FEfS Rt A RIEE &G
(note 31(a)(i) (FFE31¢a)0)) 2,602 2,190
The related party transaction in respect of note 31(a)(i) iR B EE 31(a)() 2 B T AT B IR R - T 3R B

above also constitutes a continuing connected transaction FUAEREZHERERS -
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 32. RERBINEMTIA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHREMT ARHFEHARNERMAESIWOT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade and bills receivables
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income:
Equity instrument designated as such
upon initial recognition

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHET
B EE
LR AT EMNPT B EE
S EWGIE K W EE 158,975 188,953
SEATERM A« RE REHAM
R IBR B E
511 512
[ iR 24,030 31,874
HekIREEEY 533,295 462,796
716,811 684,135
BAFE AR M2 EKRES
M ERE
6 TE A ) 25 HE SR B O AR A
IA 3,726 3,928
720,537 688,063
27/ =R
BRI BR BT B A fE
B SN FOR 82,762 88,407
AR EN KRB REEA
MY AaE 46,053 36,288
T EIRITIE K 59,393 33,105
HEBE pX{1y) 2,190
190,810 159,990
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33.

138

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments or
the effect of discounting is not material.

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the chief financial officer analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors review
the results of the fair value measurement of financial
instruments for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of interest-bearing borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investment,
management of the Group has estimated the fair value of
the investment using an asset-based approach as its major
asset is a property held for self-use and the investee is yet
to have sufficient earnings history to support the use of
other approaches. The value of this property is adjusted
to its fair value at the end of each reporting period for the
purpose of determining the Group’s share of adjusted net
asset value and fair value of the investment.

33.
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33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group'’s financial instruments:

33. EMITANAFERAFERR @

DFEER

TRITAEEERMTEANATEFEER

Fair value measurement using

ERANTHABBNAFENE

Quoted
prices
in active
markets
ERME
HRME
(Level 1)
(E—#)
HK$’000
TExT
Asset measured at BRAVEE
fair value: NEE :
At 31 December 2024 MN-ZE M4
+=-A=+—8
Financial asset at fair value %A (B AHAM
through other 2 EWE B
comprehensive income BE
At 31 December 2023 MN-ZE =14
+-A=+—H

Financial asset at fair value 22 F{EEF A H b
through other ZHE AT
comprehensive income

A -

Significant
observable
inputs
BEATHE
o ABE
(Level 2)
(=)
HK$'000
FET

Significant
unobservable
inputs
BERTHEE
o ABE
(Level 3)
(F=#)
HK$'000
F#E T

Total

Mt

HK$’000
TET

= 3,928 3,928

A significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investee’s investment property would result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the unlisted equity
investment.

BRAREHRNBRENR 2 2 FENKIEE
m/ORD) S BB ETREREZAFER
B, Om )

BEEEEZERAERAT / F3R 2024 139



~

Notes to Financial Staterﬁnts
B 7% R R BT =

31 December 2024 —ZE—PF+—-H=+—H

33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 33. ERMIANAFERATFERRE)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEERE)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 REANF=FHNAFEFELEOT :
during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
—ECmE —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial asset at fair value through BAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Was i) B T & 2
— unlisted: — 3EET
At 1 January n—H—H 4,019
Fair value loss recognised in other REM 2 E RS R
comprehensive income NEBE (33)
Exchange realignment M H (58)
At the end of year FR 3,928
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured RZE N+ _A=+—HRZZF_=F+=
at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December A=+—8 AEEWEE(TRAFETZENH
2023. BEE-
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FA - RMBEEMNS - E—REFE KB
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no EEANTEAENER - E=RIEE ASE
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2023: B(ZE==F ) -
Nil).

Fair value measurement using
ERAUATHABBNATENE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total
ERWE  EBEATEE EXAFTEE
HE WAHE WARE #st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—4) (B=4) (B=&)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000

TR FRET FET FTERT

Liabilities for which fair HEAFLEHNAEE :
values are disclosed:

At 31 December 2024 R-ZT-F

+=—A=+—8
Interest-bearing bank FHEERITER
borrowings 59,393 59,393

At 31 December 2023 R-T-=F

Interest-bearing bank FTEIRITIEK
borrowings - 33,105 - 33,105
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. Bi#REKEEEERBEEK

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on interest-bearing bank borrowings
with floating interest rates).

AEFTIZSMTATZERRNELE -

AEESRTEEANTEZRBRAFEER 5
Rk FERRERBECRR - E=SEHN
FREBAEBEBEEEZERBROBE  MkS
BURBEMT o

A 2= @by
AEEHHMSNEESHNER T BEAEE
HFEA ERAE BIRTTENER -

TRE®LCBBFIBNENFTSRITERTE

HNREE AL BEHOBRE

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

E3igm, BBt A1 2
(Hd) & (RD)

HK$°000
FTERT

2024 —E_MEF

Renminbi AR (297)
Renminbi AR 297
2023 —E-=

Renminbi AR 50 (166)
Renminbi AR (50) 166
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. BiEEREEBZREE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk S ELBR
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Those AEERBERHEERRE - ZZRBRN2ES
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units AR BN EM AN EREHEITEE - &
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. SEHNEZLEMNBR AR ESRFTEALM, -
The Group’s main operating subsidiaries are located in MASEEMNBEEEZNET ARBRETE
Hong Kong and Mainland China and the Group’s sales and e
purchases were mainly conducted in HK$, RMB and US$.
The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future AREWIEABLILERE o ARBH)ARKEZLA]
exchange rates of the RMB could vary significantly from B B 2 R B HNRE B R £ Bh i B B AT SR E X
the current or historical exchange rates as a result of the BIRAKHA o (R INA] 52 B SN 3R I
changes in the PRC foreign currency policy. The exchange REEARARBEKEIFE  ARBEET
rates may also be affected by economic developments RETHESEZESGURNER 2 EEEEE
and political changes domestically and internationally, and D470
the demand and supply of the RMB. The appreciation or
devaluation of RMB against HK$ and US$ may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TR R HA AR AN & E R AT s R (2R 8 A
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change BLRETTENSRTA) HARBESRTIER
in the RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held SEFREEE (KM A RS RTE) R
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from B - RRBEFIN REEEREIEITE -
US$ and HK$ denominated financial instruments). There
is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained
profits.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
RMB rate before tax
ARBER MRBE AR R
EFH(FE) i CE2)
% HK$°000
% FE T
2024 —E_MEF
If HK$ weakens against RMB WA TRARE K (22)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB WA AR EF 22
If US$ weakens against RMB METHARE T K (17,162)
If US$ strengthens against RMB WMETHLARE L7 17,162
2023 —E-=F
If HK$ weakens against RMB BT H ARE T B 5 (20)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB B TH AR EFH (5) 20
If US$ weakens against RMB fHETH ARE T K& 5 (9,288)
If US$ strengthens against RMB HETHARKE EFH (5) 9,288

142

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2024



Notes to Financial Statements

B R E TS

37 December 2024 —ZE—PFE+—-H=+—H

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless
other information is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets.

At 31 December 2024

Trade and bills receivables*

Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
— Normal**

Pledged deposits
— Not yet past due

Cash and cash equivalents
— Not yet past due

B HRYGIA R
eSS
ATATRRMFR - &
K E A TR IA Y
IBEE
_J—.ET%"**
BERFR

— KaH
B kREEEY
— KaH

12-month
ECLs

12188
R
EEES
Stage 1

FEER1
HK$000

TER

17,079

511
24,030

533,295

574,915

MHREREEREREE®

FERR
REERRERER

TRETRTZA=1t—8 ' ERAKEEERK
ROEEERIARNESEERR(ZZ2ER
BERRER - RIFFEMBETLETVERA
HBENNARER) RERBEEROE - 270 %

BRUWKEENREARE -

R-B-WE+-A=+—H

Lifetime ECLs

2HRMEERR

Simplified

Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
PR 2 PEEL3 E{LE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR FHET THET

144,746

144,746

Total
@t
HK$'000
FET

161,825

511
24,030

533,295

719,661
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.

144

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

At 31 December 2023

MREREEBERBEK @)

FERE (&)
RERRREFRER(E)

R-ZE-_=F+=-HA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
TEHA
EEEE > HBEHREEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PEER1 FEER 2 PEER 3 i et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTAT TR FHT FHT
Trade and bills receivables* 2 5 WFIE R
EUEE * 17,803 - - 174,892 192,695
Financial assets included in STAENRIE - e
prepayments, deposits and T Ho A FE WK IE B
other receivables IS EE
— Normal** — [ISE 512 - - - 512
Pledged deposits [REREVESN
— Not yet past due — K@ 31,874 - - - 31,874
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY
— Not yet past due — R@H 462,796 = = = 462,796
512,985 - - 174,892 687,877
& For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the * FANEE E A B OAERENE 5 RBUGKE R EKEE

simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

x* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is

considered to be “doubtful”.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34. Bi#REKEREBEREEK (&)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which
comprise trade and bills receivables, pledged deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, and financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 19.9%
(2023: 27.1%) and 56.5% (2023: 62.7%) of the Group’s
trade and bills receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and five largest customers, respectively.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings. The Group’s policies are to regularly
monitor the current and expected liquidity requirements,
and to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and available banking facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group'’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

FEERR (&)
AEBUBKEE(RREESERFERERE
% BEAED  RERESEEYURIIATE
NFIE - e R EMRERRIE BIEEE) NE
BERBREREFHELN  FRARREEERZSE
TAXRAEE -

BREE/HFHEEBEEESETRK - RBREH
K AEEEETEEETRAR  AALAEE
BESRNBFEREKEES  551519.9%
(ZEZ=ZF :1271%) 256.5% (T =4 :
62.7%) B AL BEZARARRS o

REBESER

AEEMBEBRAMNARITEREFESNFE
MEERER M2 T - ARBNBRAENERST
BREMRBDESTE R  UEREESTHED
EERATARITRE - WhRRBRRBRDE

ARE BRI EIRRIZA QRBRA RO
BEIMRRET

Less than 1to 5
1 year years Total
DPR—F —ZERF e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FHET

2024 —EOF
Trade payables B SR
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals BB aE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings HRIRTTIER
Lease liabilities HEAE

FEARAEN RIB K BT B

82,762 82,762

46,053 - 46,053
27,146 33,944 61,090
1,708 1,015 2,723

157,669 34,959 192,628
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.

146

AND POLICIES (continued)

MREREEBERBEK @)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBEERMR(E)
Less than 1to5
1 year years Total
DR—F —ERF Fo
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
2023 —E2-=
Trade payables B S IR 88,407 = 88,407
Financial liabilities included in s AE b fE AT 708 N B R & A
other payables and accruals AR 36,288 = 36,288
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRIEBITER 33,745 - 33,745
Lease liabilities HEBRE 1,686 580 2,266
160,126 580 160,706
Capital management EXREHR

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders
or raise new capital from its investors. The Group is
required to comply with certain externally imposed
capital requirements set out in certain of its bank loan
agreements/bank facility letters. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
are as follows:

AEEEREANTIEANRREAEE#F
FERQERN  YRARRNEARLE - A
EBRFREABRREE -

AEERELEMRDESMEREENEERIE
HAE - S AREREE  REE TR
BNTRREOBEKAEEEELENER - A%
EEESTE TRITER D BT B SR
TIEHE FHNEBEMAEARRE - REBEE=-Z =Y
F+-_A=+—HBR=ZFE-_=F+=-A=+-—
HIEFE  EEEAANBEE  BRSEFRES
Ej}o

AEBEREEARBRL X (ARERRAGER)
BEEER - REHREF SR|ITER -

RBEHRRZEERBLRFEIINT :

2024 2023

—E-MF —F-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITER 59,393 33,105
Total debt BT 59,393 33,105
Total equity s 745,229 720,648
Gearing ratio BEEBMELX 0.08 0.05
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35.

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

R R IEARR =

RERARARBRFHEARARNER T

2024
—E-ONEF
HK$'000
T

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary

FRBEE
R—EEBRREIRE

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE

Due from subsidiaries RS NGIE ¢z 121,723
Prepayments SN 163
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEEY 2,048
Total current assets MBNEEBE 123,934
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R

Other payables and accruals H b e B K BT B 1,386

Due to a subsidiary

JEA — P B 2 Bl FUA

55,721

57,107

66,827

66,828

2,400
64,428

Total current liabilities MBI B EERE
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE
Net assets BEFE
EQUITY ER

Issued capital BEITRA
Reserves (note) i (EE)
Total equity s

66,828

2023
—E-=%F
HK$'000
FET

117,491
310
738

118,539

1,604
51,511

53,115
65,424

65,425

2,400
63,025

65,425
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. AARBBRREKE)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: B eE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARIREHENT :
Retained
Share profits/
premium (accumulated
account losses) Total
REER,
RAD R ERR (RFHEE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE—_=F—H—H 62,609 61) 62,548
Profit and total comprehensive income B A e M| N 2 TE e s AR RE
for the year - 29,277 29,277
2022 final dividend —E-—FRERE - (28,800) (28,800)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-E_=F+-_A=+—H8k

—ZT-NHF—A—H 62,609 416 63,025

Profit and total comprehensive income B A M R 2 TE e AR FE
for the year - 25,403 25,403
2023 final dividend —E=FRERE - (24,000) (24,000)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_MF&E+_A=+—8 62,609 1,819 64,428

36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 36. #t/EBI##H*

The financial statements were approved and authorised for B RRER-_T-_RAF=A-_1+"AEE=SE
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025. SR KRR -
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